
2011 Stärkung der  

Position im Markt

Geschäftsbericht
Auszug Berichterstattungsteil
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Höhepunkte 2011

» Umsatz von CHF 146,1 Mio.; währungsbereinigtes, organisches 

Wachstum von 1,6%

» Schwellenländer mit starker Umsatzsteigerung von 25,9% 
(währungsbereinigtes, organisches Wachstum von 8,4%)

» Betriebsergebnis (EBIT) von CHF 12,3 Mio., 33,6% unter Vorjahr, 

bedingt durch die erheblichen Währungsschwankungen und die  

jetzt abgeschlossene Restrukturierung von Vigodent in Brasilien 

» Free Cashflow von CHF 9,9 Mio., geringfügig unter Vorjahr, aber 

weiterhin auf solidem Niveau 

» Hohe Eigenkapitelquote von 63,1%

» Antrag auf Auszahlung einer Ausschüttung von CHF 1.10 je Aktie 

aus den Kapitalreserven

5-Jahres-Übersicht
(IN CHF MILLIONEN, WEITERGEFÜHRTE TÄTIGKEIT) 
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Vorwort

Operativer Rückblick

Der vollständige Geschäftsbericht, 

 einschliesslich des Corporate Governance 

Kapitels und des Finanzberichts, steht  

Ihnen in englischer Sprache auf der Website 

www.coltene.com zur Verfügung.
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ADHÄSIVE/RESTAURATION 

Ein über Jahrzehnte erarbeitetes 

Wissen ist in der reichhaltigen 

Pro duktpalette im Bereich Restau-

ration von Coltène/Whaledent 

enthalten. Unsere innovativen Pro-

dukte wie Synergy D6 und  Miris 2 

stehen für herausragende Ästhe-

tik kombiniert mit bewährter 

 klinischer Leistung.

Ergänzt wird dieses Angebot 

durch Polymerisationslampen für 

Zahnärzte.

ENDODONTIE

Coltène/Whaledent steht für 

Kompetenz in der Herstellung un-

entbehrlicher und zuverlässiger 

endodontischer Materialien. Pa-

pier- und Guttaperchaspitzen, 

GuttaFlow, RoekoSeal, ParaPost 

und ParaCore sind Produkte  

mit bewährter klinischer Effizienz, 

die den Erfolg edodontischer Be-

handlungen sichern.

PROTHETIK

Seit mehr als 45 Jahren entwickeln 

und produzieren wir kondensa-

tions- und  additionsvernetzende 

Silikone für den Dentalmarkt,  

die weltweit über verschiedene 

Kanäle vertrieben werden.  

SPEEDEX und AFFINIS sind zwei 

unserer führenden Produkte,  

die in vielen Praxen und Universi-

täten das Produkt der Wahl 

 darstellen. 

COLTENE ist ein international führendes Unternehmen im Bereich Entwick-

lung, Herstellung und Vertrieb von zahnmedizinischen Verbrauchsgütern 

und Kleingeräten. Den Schwerpunkt bilden hochpräzise mechanische Instru-

mente und innovative Füllmaterialien für ästhetisch ansprechende 

 Ergebnisse. 1990 schlossen sich die schweizerische Coltène AG und die 

amerikanische Whaledent Inc., ein Hersteller von zahntechnischen Den-

talprodukten, zusammen. Seitdem werden die Coltène/Whaledent-Pro-

dukte – chemisch-technische Abform- und Füllmaterialien, ein breites 

 Angebot an feinstmechanischen Instrumenten, Zahnstiften, Hartmetall- 

und Diamantbohrern und anderen rotierenden Instrumenten sowie eine 

umfassende Produktpalette im Bereich Hygiene und Patientensicherheit – 

weltweit über Vertriebspartner vermarktet.

Produktübersicht
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ROTIERENDE INSTRUMENTE 

Die rotierenden Instrumente wer-

den unter den Marken «Diatech» 

(weltweiter Vertrieb ausser USA 

und Kanada) sowie «Alpen» (USA 

und Kanada) verkauft. Dabei bieten 

wir das komplette Sortiment  

mit klaren Produktvorteilen wie 

die «Mehrfachbeschichtung»  

bei Diamanten und die «Einstück-

Konstruktion» bei Hartmetall-

instrumenten an.

BEHANDLUNGSHILFEN

Roeko und Hygenic Behandlungs-

hilfen umfassen Produkte, die  

die tägliche Praxisarbeit erleich-

tern und effizienter machen.  

Roeko Luna Watterollen, Surgitip 

Absaugkanülen und eine kom- 

plette Kofferdam-Linie gewährleis-

ten optimale Feuchtigkeits-

kontrolle in der Mund höhle. Das 

chirurgische Nahtmaterial  

Roeko Sintraumal sowie der anti-

bakteriell wirkende Gelatine-

schwamm unterstützen die Wund-

heilung. Coltène/Whaledent 

produziert auch Geräte für die 

Zahnsteinentfernung und Elek-

trochirurgiesysteme.

HYGIENE

Mit den Produkten der Hygiene- 

Linie von Coltène/Whaledent wird 

die Zahnarztpraxis ein Stück 

 sicherer. Sterile Abdeckungen 

Steri-Quick und Steri-sleeve, 

Mundschutz Protecta und Rexam 

Handschuhe bieten Infektions-

schutz für Patient und Praxisteam. 

Coltène/Whaledent besitzt aus-

serdem lang jährige Erfahrungen in 

der Herstellung von Kleingeräten 

wie Ultraschallreinigern.

1 Restauration 23%

2 Abformung 21%

3 Endodontie 16%

4 Hygiene und Chirurgie 11%

5 Behandlungshilfen 

 und Kleingeräte 7%

6 Rotierende Instrumente 7%

7 Labor und Sonstiges 15%
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NETTOUMSATZ NACH PRODUKTEN UND DIENSTLEISTUNGEN 2011
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1 Schweiz 2%

2 Deutschland, Österreich 14%

3 Grossbritannien, Irland 5%

 4 Frankreich 4%

5 Übriges Europa 14%

6 Russland/GUS 3%

7 Naher Osten und Afrika 4%

8 Nordamerika 31%

9 Brasilien 8%

10 Südamerika (ohne Brasilien) 5%

11 China 2%

12 Indien 1%

13 Übriges Fernost, Ozeanien 7%

NETTOUMSATZ NACH GEOGRAFISCHEN REGIONEN 2011
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   COLTENE verfügt in den USA, in der Schweiz sowie in Deutschland 

und Ungarn über modernste Produktionsstätten sowie ein fein-

maschiges Netz von Vertriebsgesellschaften und Vertretungen. 

Weltweit vertrauen Zahnärzte und Dentallabors auf Produkte  

von COLTENE sowohl bei herkömmlichen als auch implantatbasierten 

Therapien und Zahnrekonstruktionen.

Weltweite Präsenz
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SEHR GEEHRTE AKTIONÄRINNEN,  

SEHR GEEHRTE AKTIONÄRE

COLTENE erreichte im Geschäftsjahr 2011 in einem 

an spruchsvollen Marktumfeld in lokalen Währungen 

 einen soliden Leistungsausweis, obschon die Ergeb-

nisse durch starke Währungsschwankungen und die 

Ende 2011 abgeschlossene Integration von Vigodent  

in Brasilien belastet wurden. Auch wenn die Händler 

ihre Lagerbestände reduzierten, erzielte die Grup- 

pe währungsbereinigt ein organisches Wachstum von 

1,6%. Mit Blick nach vorne gelang es COLTENE im 

 Geschäftsjahr 2011, ihre Präsenz in wichtigen Märk-

ten weltweit auszubauen. Heute ist die Gruppe gut 

positioniert, um am Wachstumspotenzial in den dyna-

mischen Segmenten des Dentalmarkts teilzuhaben.  

In den kommenden Jahren wird der Dentalmarkt von  

der wachsenden Bedeutung der Mundhygiene und 

 ästhetischen Zahnmedizin profitieren. Diese Erwar-

tung baut auf sozialen Lifestyle-Trends und globalen 

demografischen und wirtschaftlichen Entwicklungen. 

Ein immer grösserer Anteil der Weltbevölkerung er-

hält heute Zugang zu moderner Zahnmedizin, so dass 

immer mehr Menschen länger ihre eigenen Zähne be-

halten. Da die Kosten der Zahnpflege gemeinsam von 

Patienten und den Krankenversicherungen getragen 

werden, ist dieser Markt im Vergleich zum allgemeinen 

Gesundheitssektor weniger von staatlichen Unter-

stützungsleistungen abhängig.

Im Geschäftsjahr 2011 schloss die Gruppe die Reor-

ganisation von Vigodent in Brasilien ab. Nachdem  

die 2009 erworbene brasilianische Gruppengesellschaft 

ihre Organisation stabilisiert hat, wird das Unter-

nehmen diesen wichtigen Markt weiter erschliessen. 

Als eines der dynamischsten BRIC-Länder bietet 

 Brasilien vielversprechende Aussichten für die weitere 

Geschäftsentwicklung und eröffnet neue Chancen  

für nachhaltiges Wachstum. Die brasilianische Gruppen-

gesellschaft dient zudem als Ausgangshub für die  

Erschliessung weiterer Schwellenländer in der Region. 

Parallel dazu stärkt und erweitert COLTENE ihre 

 Vertriebsnetze in den wichtigen Märkten China und 

Indien. 

Vorwort

Von links nach rechts: Erwin Locher, CEO ad interim und Delegierter des Verwaltungsrats;  

Nick Huber, Präsident des Verwaltungsrats; Dr. Hans Grüter, CFO
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Weiter brachte COLTENE 2011 innovative neue Produk-

te auf den Markt, die einen echten Kundennutzen 

 vermitteln. «A Smile to Go» ist der einprägsame Slogan 

für die Markteinführung des neuen Komposit- 

Veneer-Systems COMPONEER™. Das System wurde 

speziell für einfache, sichere und zeitsparende Front-

zahnrestaurationen entwickelt, mit denen Patienten 

in nur einer Sitzung ein natürliches, ästhetisches 

 Lächeln erhalten. Eine weitere wichtige Marktpremie-

re war die HyFlex™ CM NiTi-Feile mit kontrolliertem 

Rückstelleffekt (Controlled Memory). Die endodonti-

sche Feile passt sich optimal an die Kanalanatomie  

an und reduziert die Risiken einer Verlagerung des  

Kanalzentrums oder Perforation des Wurzelkanals.

Schliesslich konzentrierte sich COLTENE in der Be-

richtsperiode auf die Stärkung der Verankerung ihrer 

Marke und des breit gefächerten Produktportfolios. 

Gezielt festigte die Gruppe ihre Kundenbeziehungen. 

Ausserdem intensivierten die Vertriebsspezialisten 

ihren laufenden Dialog mit bestehenden und neuen Kun-

dengruppen, um mehr über ihre Bedürfnisse zu er-

fahren. Dabei stellten sie sicher, dass die Produkte und 

Dienstleistungen von COLTENE den Kunden einen 

Mehr wert vermitteln und die Anforderungen der End-

anwender erfüllen.

FOKUS AUF ORGANISCHES WACHSTUM

Im ersten Halbjahr 2011 überprüfte der Verwaltungs-

rat die strategische Ausrichtung der Gruppe mit 

 Bezug auf die aktuellen Branchentrends und die künf-

tigen Marktbedürfnisse. Die Ende Juni herausgegebe-

nen neuen Richtlinien bekräftigten das Geschäftsmo-

dell von COLTENE. Es fokussiert auf zahnmedizinische 

Verbrauchsgüter, insbesondere auf die Kernkom-

petenzen der Gruppe in den Bereichen Restauration, 

Ästhetik und Endodontie. Wachstum und Gewinn  

sollen vor allem durch die Pflege enger Partnerschaf-

ten mit Kunden und Händlern und ein konsequent 

marktorientiertes Produktmanagement über ein star-

kes, vielschichtiges Vertriebsnetz vorangetrieben 

werden. Die Richtlinien weisen zudem auf das grosse 

organische Wachstumspotenzial von COLTENE hin.  

Es baut auf der breit aufgestellten Organisations-

struktur des Unternehmens, dem umfassenden  

und vielseitigen Produktangebot, auf den weiterfüh-

renden Entwicklungsmöglichkeiten des Portfolios 

 sowie auf der soliden Kompetenz in wichtigen State-

of-the-Art-Technologien. 

Mit der Übernahme von Vigodent schloss COLTENE ein 

mehrjähriges geografisches Expansionsprogramm  

ab. Heute ist die Gruppe sowohl in den traditionellen 

Märkten als auch in den Schwellenländern Brasilien, 

 Indien und China gut aufgestellt und verfügt über eine 

ausgewogene Struktur zur Sicherung von nachhalti-

gem zukünftigem Wachstum. 

COLTENE setzt sich das Ziel, in den nächsten Jahren 

ein um Sondereffekte bereinigtes Umsatzwachstum  

zu erzielen, das leicht über dem Gesamtmarktdurch-

schnitt liegt.

MARTIN SCHAUFELBERGER NEUER CEO 

Nach dem Ausscheiden von Andreas Meldau im Juni 

2011 gewährleistete das bisherige, erweiterte 

 Managementteam mit Dr. Hans Grüter (CFO), Werner 

Mannschedel (Operations) und Michael Nordahl 

 (Business Development) die Kontinuität in der globalen 

Führung der Gruppe. Im Januar 2012 ernannte der 

Verwaltungsrat Martin Schaufelberger zum neuen  

CEO von COLTENE. Er wird seine neue Funktion per  

1. Juni 2012 übernehmen. Zu seinen vorrangigen Auf-

gaben gehört die Umsetzung einer Reihe von Mass-

nahmen, mit denen die operativen Prozesse, die 

 technologische Basis und die Marktposition des Un-

ternehmens nachhaltig verbessert werden. Damit  

wird er an die erfolgreiche Entwicklung der COLTENE 

Gruppe und ihres internationalen geschäftlichen 

Netzwerks anknüpfen. Erwin Locher, der das Unter-

nehmen derzeit als CEO ad interim leitet, wird  

die Neuausrichtung der operativen Tätigkeiten von 

COLTENE in seiner Funktion als Delegierter des 

 Verwaltungsrats weiter begleiten.
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AUSBLICK:  

WEITERE STÄRKUNG DER POSITION IM MARKT

Im laufenden Geschäftsjahr 2012 streben der Verwal-

tungsrat und die Geschäftsleitung schrittweise 

 Verbesserungen an mit dem Ziel, die globale Struktur 

und die Kernkompetenzen der Gruppe breiter ab-

zustützen. Dazu beabsichtigt COLTENE, ihre Marke mit 

neuen, innovativen Lösungen weiter zu stärken und  

ihr Netzwerk in den Schwellenmärkten auszubauen, um 

zusätzliches Wachstum in neuen Märkten zu erzielen. 

Parallel will COLTENE die Vertriebs- und «schlanken» 

Fertigungskapazitäten sowie die breitgefächerte 

Marketingorganisation erweitern. Mit diesen kombi-

nierten Stärken ist das Unternehmen in der Lage, 

 seine Produkte, die es in den hoch automatisierten 

Produktionszentren in Europa und den USA fertigt, 

unter der eigenen und OEM-Marken über globale, regi-

onale oder lokale Vertriebspartner an wichtige Mei-

nungsführer und direkt an Zahnärzte zu vertreiben.

 

Mit Blick in die Zukunft befindet sich COLTENE in einer 

guten Ausgangslage, um sich eröffnende Chancen  

im weltweit dynamisch wachsenden Dentalmarkt zu 

nutzen. Das Management erwartet weiteres Wachs-

tumspotenzial insbesondere bei neuen Markenproduk-

ten im Bereich der ästhetischen Zahnmedizin. Auch  

die übrigen Produktgruppen im Bereich der zahnmedi-

zinischen Verbrauchsgüter verfügen im Vergleich  

zum allgemeinen Dentalmarkt über eine relative hohe 

Stabilität gegenüber Konjunkturschwankungen. 

 Während sich der Umsatz in den traditionellen Märk-

ten und in den Schwellenländern dank neuer Pro-

dukteinführungen und gezielter, operativer Verbesse-

rungen im Ergebnis positiv entwickeln wird, erwartet 

das Unternehmen in Absprache mit den Händlern An-

passungen der Lagerbestände in den gesättigten 

Märkten. 

DANK

Im Namen des Verwaltungsrats und der Konzernleitung 

danken wir allen Mitarbeitenden für ihr ausseror-

dentliches Engagement und ihren Einsatz. Sie tragen 

wesentlich zur Verbesserung der Wachstumsaus-

sichten bei und ermöglichen es dem Unternehmen, 

neue Chancen zur Expansion der weltweiten Akti-

vitäten der Gruppe anzugehen. Des Weiteren danken 

wir unseren Kunden, Geschäftspartnern und den 

 Lieferanten für die ausgezeichnete Zusammenarbeit 

mit unseren Teams. Nicht zuletzt richten wir unseren 

Dank an unsere Aktionäre für ihr Vertrauen in unser 

Unternehmen.

Mit freundlichen Grüssen

Nick Huber 

Präsident des Verwaltungsrates 

Erwin Locher

CEO ad interim und Delegierter des Verwaltungsrates
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1. Der Zahnarzt macht eine Bestandsaufnah-

me der Frontzähne und empfiehlt die rich-

tige COMPONEER™-Farbe und die passende 

COMPONEER™-Form.

2. Dann bereitet er die Zähne für die Verbin-

dung mit COMPONEER™ vor. Weil die 

 Zahnschmelzschalen so sensationell dünn 

sind, müssen die Zähne nur minimal vor-

bereitet werden. Im Allgemeinen geht sehr 

wenig Zahnsubstanz verloren.

3. Der Zahnarzt bringt das COMPONEER™ in 

die gewünschte Position und vervollständigt 

die Zahnform. Jetzt besteht nochmals die 

Möglichkeit, Anpassungen an Form und Län-

ge vorzunehmen. Mit einer Glanzpolitur  

wird der Zahn an die anderen angeglichen 

und erhält den letzten Schliff. Fertig.

.

«A SMILE TO GO» 

2011 brachte COLTENE sein neues Komposit-Veneer-

System COMPONEER™ auf den Markt, ein innovatives 

System für die ästhetische Zahnrestauration, das  

die heutigen medizinischen Anforderungen und Life-

style-Ansprüche erfüllt. Mit dem vielversprechenden 

neuen Flaggschiffprodukt können Zahnärzte ihr Ange-

bot für Patienten erweitern. Die Behandlung in nur 

 einer Sitzung ist lediglich einer von vielen Vorteilen, den 

der Slogan «a smile to go» treffend zum Ausdruck 

bringt. COLTENE will seine Position im Bereich der äs-

thetischen Zahnrestauration weiter stärken und  

ist mit COMPONEER™ – einem Produkt, das den  

Schönheitstrend der heutigen Zeit aufgreift –  

auf dem besten Weg, dieses Ziel zu erreichen.

8 | Componeer



möglicht – eine Behandlung, die bereits in einer  

Sitzung effizient realisiert werden kann.»

Wie profitieren Zahnärzte und Patienten  

vom neuen System?

«Bisher musste der Zahnarzt zwischen der direkt 

 modellierten Kompositrestauration und der aufwendi-

gen indirekten Veneer-Technik wählen. Insofern er-

öffnet COMPONEER™ neue wirtschaftliche Perspek-

tiven für Zahnarzt und Patient.»

Für welche Indikationen ist COMPONEER™  

am besten geeignet?

«Ob Schneidekantenverlängerungen, Kaschieren  

von massiven Zahnverfärbungen oder Schliessen eines 

Diastemas, mit Hilfe von COMPONEER™ können äs-

thetische Korrekturen schnell und einfach durchge-

führt werden.» 

Dr. Mario Besek ist Spezialist für präventive, restaurative  

und ästhetische Zahnmedizin und Mitinhaber Swiss Dental Center, 

Zürich.

Welche Vorteile hat COMPONEER™ gegenüber 

 herkömmlichen Veneer-Systemen?

Dr. Mario Besek: «Die polymerisierten, vorgefertigten 

Nano-Hybrid-Komposit-Schmelzschalen verbinden  

die Vorteile der direkten Kompositrestauration mit 

den Vorteilen der vorgefertigten Veneers. Die in-

dustrielle Herstellung gewährleistet eine ausgezeich-

nete Homogenität und Stabilität.»

Was macht COMPONEER™ so einzigartig?

«COMPONEER™ ist das erste durchdachte System, 

das durch die konfektionierten Kompositschalen ver-

blüffend einfache Frontzahnrestaurationen er-

«DAS ZUKUNFTSWEISENDE SYS-

TEM ERÖFFNET NEUE WIRT-

SCHAFTLICHE PERSPEKTIVEN FÜR 

ZAHNARZT UND PATIENT, DIE IN 

NUR EINER SITZUNG UMGESETZT 

WERDEN KÖNNEN.»  Dr. Mario Besek

Direct Composite Veneers.  

Die innovative und verblüffend  

einfache Frontzahnrestauration.

Componeer | 9
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gegenüber CHF 9,3 Mio. im Vorjahr. Dies entspricht  

einem Gewinn je Aktie von CHF 1.44 im Vergleich zu 

CHF 2.24 je Aktie im Vorjahr.

Im Geschäftsjahr 2011 erzielte COLTENE einen Cash-

flow aus operativer Tätigkeit in Höhe von CHF 14,6  

Mio., CHF 0,4 Mio. mehr als im Vorjahr. Der niedrigere 

Reingewinn wurde durch eine Reduzierung der  

Vorräte – im Vergleich zu einer Zunahme im Vorjahr – 

kompensiert.

Der Cashflow aus Investitionstätigkeit betrug CHF 4,6 

Mio. Die Investitionen in Maschinen und Anlagen be-

liefen sich auf CHF 3,3 Mio. Die Investitionen in imma-

terielle Vermögenswerte in Höhe von CHF 1,3 Mio. 

 bezogen sich hauptsächlich auf die weitere Installati-

on des konzernweiten ERP-Systems. Nach der er-

folgreichen Einführung in der Schweiz 2010 und in 

Deutschland 2011 wird das System jetzt an allen 

 wichtigen Standorten von COLTENE mit Ausnahme  

der Niederlassung in den USA, die 2012 folgen wird, 

verwendet. Bedingt durch die höheren Investitionen 

verringerte sich der Free Cashflow von CHF 10,8 Mio. 

im Vorjahr auf CHF 9,9 Mio.

Mit Bankschulden in Höhe von CHF 30,2 Mio. weist die 

gesunde Bilanz von COLTENE weiterhin eine hohe 

 Eigenkapitalquote von 63,1% aus. Dies garantiert wei-

terhin die finanzielle Stabilität und unternehmerische 

Unabhängigkeit der Gruppe. Der Verwaltungsrat wird 

der Generalversammlung am 20. April 2012 die Aus-

schüttung von CHF 1.10 je Aktie aus den Kapitalreser-

ven vorschlagen. Basierend auf einem Aktienkurs von 

CHF 31.85 (per 30. Dezember 2011) entspricht dies ei-

ner Dividendenrendite von rund 3,5%. Gemessen am 

Reingewinn beträgt die Ausschüttungsquote 76%. Der 

Verwaltungsrat führt damit die bisherige Dividenden-

politik fort und ist aufgrund des erfolgreichen Ge-

schäftsmodells von COLTENE überzeugt, auch in Zu-

kunft attraktive Dividenden auszahlen zu können.

REGIONALE VERTEILUNG:  

UNEINHEITLICHE ENTWICKLUNG

Die Vertriebsorganisation von COLTENE erzielte in 

vielen Ländern gute Wachstumsraten in lokalen 

 Währungen. Durch die Umrechnung in Schweizer Fran-

ken ergaben sich jedoch in mehreren geografischen 

Regionen negative Trends. Die geografische Umsatz-

verteilung des Unternehmens hat sich, hauptsäch- 

COLTENE blickt auf ein erfolgreiches Jahr mit einer 

nachhaltigen, kontinuierlichen Geschäftsentwicklung 

zurück. Nach einer freundlichen Konjunkturlage in 

den ersten sechs Monaten kehrte der Trend im zwei-

ten Halbjahr. Die sich zuspitzende Schuldenkrise  

und aufkommende Rezessionsängste trübten die Kon-

junkturaussichten. Hinzu kam die massive Aufwer-

tung des Schweizer Frankens, der die operativen Er-

gebnisse 2011 erheblich belastete. Während das 

Verhältnis zwischen Erträgen und Aufwendungen im 

Dollar-Raum sehr ausgewogen ist, führte der nied-

rigere Wechselkurs des Euros gegenüber dem Schwei-

zer Franken zu erheblichen Umsatzeinbussen. Als 

 Reaktion darauf hat COLTENE Massnahmen eingelei-

tet, um eine flexiblere, währungsneutrale Verteilung 

der Konzernfunktionen zwischen den verschiedenen 

Standorten der Gruppe zu erreichen. 

COLTENE erzielte im Geschäftsjahr 2011 einen Netto-

umsatz in Höhe von CHF 146,1 Mio. (2010: CHF 153,6 

Mio.). Dies entspricht einer Steigerung des Konzern-

umsatzes um 7,8% in lokalen Währungen und einem 

Rückgang von 4,9% in Schweizer Franken. Dank der geo-

grafischen Diversifizierung erreichte die Gruppe in  

ihren traditionellen Märkten ein organisches Wachs-

tum von 1,6%. Der Erwerb von Vigodent in Brasilien 

steuerte 6,2% zum Umsatzwachstum in lokaler Wäh-

rung bei. 

Sowohl die Währungseffekte (CHF 3,2 Mio.) als auch 

Vigodent (CHF 2,2 Mio.) wirkten sich negativ auf die 

 Ertragslage aus. Das Betriebsergebnis (EBIT) betrug 

CHF 12,3 Mio. und lag damit 33,6% (16,3% währungs-

bereinigt) unter dem Vorjahreswert von CHF 18,4 Mio. 

Infolgedessen sank die EBIT-Marge von 12,0% im 

 Vorjahr auf 8,4% im Geschäftsjahr 2011 (2011: 9,3% 

währungsbereinigt). Die im Finanzergebnis erfassten 

Wechselkursverluste und andere Finanzaufwendungen 

erhöhten sich gegenüber dem Vorjahr um 10,7% auf 

CHF 2,1 Mio. Die Zunahme des Zinsaufwands um CHF 

0,5 Mio. auf CHF 1,2 Mio. ist auf die höhere Durch-

schnittsverschuldung zurückzuführen. Zudem wurde 

Vigodent erstmals über die gesamten zwölf Monate 

(2010: zwei Monate) konsolidiert. Mit CHF 3,0 Mio. war 

der Steueraufwand CHF 1,0 Mio. geringer als im Vor-

jahr. Der effektive Steuersatz lag mit 33,5% über dem 

Vorjahreswert von 30,3%. Ursache hierfür sind im  

Berichtsjahr nicht aktivierte steuerliche Verluste. Der 

Reingewinn im Geschäftsjahr 2011 be trug CHF 6,0 Mio. 

Operativer Rückblick
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ziehungsweise 7,5%. Der kontinuierliche Aufbau enger 

Partnerschaften, unter anderem in Russland und 

 weiteren Ländern, ermöglicht ein dauerhaftes Wachs-

tum und eine zuverlässige Planung.

Das Umsatzvolumen in der Region Naher Osten und 

Afrika verringerte sich um 6,1% in lokalen Währungen, 

beziehungsweise um 14,0% in Schweizer Franken. In 

Südamerika (ohne Brasilien) wurde ein Umsatzanstieg 

von 6,7% verzeichnet. Der Anstieg schrumpfte je- 

doch durch die Umrechnung in Schweizer Franken zu 

einem Minus von 1,6%.

DYNAMISCHES GESCHÄFT IN BRASILIEN

In Brasilien schloss COLTENE die Restrukturierung von 

Vigodent 2011 erfolgreich ab. Auch wenn sich die 

 Sanierung der neuen Gruppengesellschaft noch nicht 

im Ergebnis bemerkbar machte, stellt sie einen 

 grossen Fortschritt dar und ist als wichtiger Meilen-

stein auf dem Weg zu einer nachhaltigen Positio-

nierung der Gruppe im attraktiven brasilianischen 

Markt zu betrachten. 2011 wurde der Umsatz von 

 Vigodent erstmals über den gesamten Zeitraum kon-

solidiert. Während der Erwerb das Konzernergebnis 

stark belastete, steuerte Brasilien 2011 7,6% zum Ge-

samtumsatz von COLTENE bei. Vigodent schloss das 

Geschäftsjahr 2011 zwar mit einem negativen EBIT von 

CHF 2,2 Mio. ab, jedoch bildet die Neupositionierung 

 einen ausgezeichneten Ausgangspunkt, um die attrak-

tiven Chancen des brasilianischen Marktes zu nutzen. 

Sie lassen in den nächsten Jahren ein attraktives 

Wachstum erwarten. 

VERTEILUNG NACH PRODUKTGRUPPEN:  

STEIGENDE NACHFRAGE NACH ÄSTHETISCHER 

ZAHNMEDIZIN

Nach Produktgruppen waren Zahnrestaurationen, 

Abformmaterialien und Hygienebedarf die grössten 

Umsatzträger. Der Umsatz mit endodontischen 

 Produkten blieb unter den Erwartungen. Grund dafür 

waren Patentstreitigkeiten in den USA, die inzwi- 

schen beigelegt werden konnten. 

Auf der Internationalen Dental-Fachmesse (IDS), die 

im März 2011 in Köln stattfand, stiess COLTENE mit 

seinen innovativen Produkten für ästhetische Zahn-

restaurationen und Wurzelkanalbehandlungen – zwei 

wichtige Kompetenzbereiche von COLTENE – auf gros-

se Resonanz. Zu den innovativen Produktneuheiten, 

lich bedingt durch den Erwerb von Vigodent, weiter 

verändert: Im Geschäftsjahr 2011 hatten die Schwel-

lenländer einen Anteil von 26,5% am Konzernumsatz 

gegenüber 20,0% im Vorjahr. Ohne die mit neuen Märk-

ten verbundenen politischen und wirtschaftlichen 

 Risiken ausser Acht zu lassen, setzt sich das Unter-

nehmen weiterhin organisches Wachstum in den In-

dustrieländern und überdurchschnittliches Wachstum 

in den Schwellenländern zum Ziel. 

Die europäischen Länder entwickelten sich uneinheit-

lich. Die Abschwächung der Märkte in Frankreich 

ebenso wie in Deutschland und Österreich wurde 

durch den Abbau von Lagerbeständen bei den Ver-

triebsgesellschaften noch verschärft. Die Region 

Grossbritannien und Irland erreichte ein solides 

Wachstum von 5,3% in lokaler Währung. In der Schweiz 

steigerte COLTENE den Umsatz gegenüber dem Vor-

jahr um 4,8%. Die Einrichtung einer eigenen Vertriebs-

organisation für die Region Übriges Europa führte 

zu einem erfreulichen Umsatzwachstum von 4,6%  

in lokaler Währung. Die neue Organisation trägt mass-

geblich zum Ziel bei, zum historischen positiven Um-

satzniveau der Gruppe in früheren Jahren zurückzu-

kehren.

In Nordamerika, dem grössten Markt für COLTENE, 

wurde ein leichter Umsatzrückgang von 1,5% in lokaler 

Währung verzeichnet, der sich in einem Minus von 

16,2% in Schweizer Franken niederschlug. Auch wenn 

sich die USA und Kanada weiter vom hartnäckigen 

Konjunkturtief der Region erholten, wurde die Umsatz-

entwicklung durch weitere Kürzungen der Lagerbe-

stände bei den Händlern belastet.

Trotz des allgemein getrübten Konsumklimas in Asien 

aufgrund der Konjunkturabschwächung nach dem Erd-

beben in Japan im Frühjahr und den schweren Über-

schwemmungen in Thailand im Sommer 2011 erhöhte 

sich der Umsatz in Indien und China in lokalen Wäh-

rungen um 12,3% beziehungsweise 17,7%. COLTENE 

setzt weiter auf die Expansion und Stärkung ihres 

Vertriebsnetzes in der dynamischen asiatischen Regi-

on als Motor für künftiges Wachstum. Weitere wich-

tige Schwellenregionen wie Übriges Fernost/Ozeanien 

und Russland/GUS erzielten erfreuliche Wachstums-

raten in lokaler Währung von 21,9% beziehungsweise 

18,2%. Sie verringerten sich nach Umrechnung in  

die Berichtswährung Schweizer Franken auf 8,5% be-
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die an der IDS Marktpremiere feierten, gehörten das 

neue Komposit-Veneer-System COMPONEER™ und 

die regenerative HyFlex™ CM NiTi-Feile. COMPONEER™ 

und HyFlex™ sind Flaggschiffprodukte, die ein signi-

fikantes Umsatzwachstum generieren und die Markt-

position von COLTENE und sein Image bei Distribu-

toren und Endanwendern stärken werden. Weitere neue 

Produkte sind das kabellose Endodontiehandstück 

CanalPro CL für die Wurzelkanalaufbereitung und die 

Abform-Mischmaschine Sympress 2, die Abformun-

gen noch einfacher macht.

ORGANISATION UND FÜHRUNG:  

KONTINUIERLICHE VERBESSERUNGEN

Während der Berichtsperiode hat COLTENE die Ein-

führung des konzernweiten ERP-Systems fortge-

setzt. Nach der Implementierung in der Schweiz im 

Jahr 2010 wurde der Einsatz des neuen Systems  

2011 auf die deutschen Niederlassungen ausgedehnt. 

Die Niederlassung in den USA wird 2012 folgen, so  

dass dann alle wichtigen Standorte des Unternehmens 

weltweit an das System angebunden sind. Das neue 

ERP-System wird die operativen Prozesse verbessern 

und konzernweit schlanke Prozesse ermöglichen so- 

wie den Austausch von Informationen und Know-how 

zwischen den Gruppengesellschaften erleichtern.

Selbst eine breit aufgestellte Gruppe wie COLTENE, 

die Produktionsstätten in allen wichtigen Währungs-

räumen – von den USA und der Europäischen Union 

(mit Standorten in Deutschland und Ungarn) bis zur 

Schweiz und Brasilien – unterhält, konnte die massi- 

ven Verschiebungen in der internationalen Währungs-

landschaft nicht auffangen. COLTENE hat nicht zu-

letzt mit seinen Investitionen in das konzernweite ERP- 

System Massnahmen ergriffen, um die Verteilung der 

Unternehmensfunktionen auf bestimmte Währungs-

räume zu optimieren. Dies dürfte eine zusätzliche 

 Absicherung gegen negative Währungseffekte ermög-

lichen und dazu beitragen, den überproportional ho- 

hen Kostenblock in Schweizer Franken zu reduzieren. 

Als erste Massnahme wurde der Logistikbereich  

für in Altstätten (Schweiz) gefertigte Produkte mit 

Wirkung ab Februar 2012 an den COLTENE-Standort  

in Langenau (Deutschland) verlagert.



Wie helfen die HyFlex CM-Wurzelkanalinstrumente 

 dabei, diese Herausforderungen zu bewältigen?

«Die HyFlex-Feilen besitzen ausgezeichnete mechani-

sche Eigenschaften. Ihre ausserordentliche Flexibilität 

und Bruchfestigkeit ermöglichen eine sichere und 

 effiziente Führung des Instruments auch in gekrümm-

ten Kanälen. Dabei müssen wir uns vor Augen halten, 

dass wir in vielen Kanälen komplexe anatomische  

Verhältnisse – die übrigens häufiger als erwartet  

vor kommen – nicht sichtbar machen können!»

Welche Anforderungen stellen Ärzte an  

ein endodontisches Produkt?

«Sie erwarten ein durchdachtes, bedienerfreundliches 

System, das die Abläufe vereinfacht und gleichzeitig 

hochwertige Behandlungen mit vorhersehbarem Ergeb-

nis ermöglicht – also ein Feilensystem wie HyFlex CM, 

das sicher und leicht verständlich ist und zusammen mit 

einem Wurzelkanalfüllsystem wie den Guttapercha-

Spitzen von Hygienic verwendet werden kann, die auf die 

Aufbereitung mit den Feilen abgestimmt sind. Aus-

serdem sind angesichts der heutigen Erkenntnisse über 

morphologische Unregelmässigkeiten und komplexe 

anatomische Verhältnisse innovative Spülsysteme wie 

die CanalPro-Produkte unverzichtbar, um eine ord-

nungsgemässe Reinigung und Desinfektion des Kanals 

zu gewährleisten.» 

Prof. Dr. Gianluca Gambarini ist Leiter Endodontie,  

Sapienza Universität Rom

Wann ist eine Wurzelkanal-

behandlung erforderlich?

Prof. Dr. Gianluca Gambarini: «Wenn 

ein Zahn Symptome einer Pulpitis 

(Zahnnerventzündung) und/oder 

Parodontitis aufweist. Die Wur-

zelkanalbehandlung ist in den meis-

ten Fällen nach wie vor die beste 

Wie helfen die HyFlex CM-Welkanal-

Lösung. Hierfür gibt es mehrere Gründe: bessere 

 Ästhetik im Frontzahnbereich, kürzere Behandlungs-

zeiten und geringere Kosten, Entfall des operativen 

Eingriffs usw. Eine alternative Versorgung auf Im-

plantaten sollte nur gewählt werden, wenn Zahnersatz 

oder Wurzeln stark angegriffen sind oder frühere  

iatrogene Fehler eine erneute endodontische Be-

handlung sehr unberechenbar machen.»

Welches sind die grössten Herausforderungen  

bei der Wurzelkanalvorbereitung?

«Die grösste Herausforderung ist die Kanalanatomie, 

weil wir sie nur in 2D und nicht in 3D darstellen können. 

Die meisten iatrogenen Fehler sind auf Fehleinschät-

zungen der komplexen anatomischen Herausforderun-

gen zurückzuführen. Wenn sich der Zahnarzt diese 

Komplexität vor Behandlungsbeginn vor Augen führen 

würde, könnten die meisten Fehler auf einfache  

Weise vermieden werden.»

Wie Phönix aus 

der Asche… 

die regenerative 

NiTi-Feile!
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The following chapter describes the principles of Corporate Governance 

applied at Group and senior management level within the   COLTENE 

Group. The central elements are contained in the Articles of Incorpora-

tion and organizational regulations and are based on the guidelines  

and recommendations set out in the “Swiss Code of Best Practice for  

Corporate Governance” published by economiesuisse. To make orien- 

  tation easier, order and sequence of the individual sections are generally 

 following those used in the “Guidelines concerning information on  

corporate governance” published by SIX Swiss Exchange.

 

All information is valid as at December 31, 2011, unless otherwise stated. 

Significant changes that have occurred between that date and the  

copy deadline for this report have also been indicated as appropriate.

Corporate Governance   COLTENE Holding AG
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1.1.2 LEGAL STRUCTURE OF SUBSIDIARIES

Of all the companies consolidated,   COLTENE Holding 

AG (the   COLTENE Group’s holding company) is the  

only one listed. It is headquartered in Altstätten/SG; 

 COLTENE Holding AG’s registered shares (security  

no. 2.534.325, ISIN CH0025343259, symbol CLTN) are 

quoted on SIX Swiss Exchange. On December 31, 2011, 

the market capitalization amounted to CHF 134 million. 

Information on the companies belonging to the 

 COLTENE Group, which are not listed, is shown on 

page 54 of the Financial Report. 

1.2 MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

On December 31, 2011, the following shareholders  

held more than 3% of the voting stock of  COLTENE  

Holding AG:

Huwa Finanz- und Beteiligungs AG, Heerbrugg/SG, 

Bahnhofstrasse 2, 9435 Heerbrugg, holds 855,323 

regis tered shares. This equals voting rights of  

20.27%. Huwa Finanz- und Beteiligungs AG is under 

control of Hans Huber, Appenzell/AI (source:  

according to share register).

Executive Management

Erwin Locher (CEO a.i.), Hans Grüter (CFO)

Operations Sales FinanceBusiness
Development

1 GROUP STRUCTURE AND SHAREHOLDERS

1.1 GROUP STRUCTURE

1.1.1 OPERATIVE GROUP STRUCTURE

  COLTENE Group is targeting the markets for den  tal 

consum ables. The Company evolved from the Health 

Care Division of the former Gurit-Heberlein AG and 

was incorporated as per December 15, 2005, under 

the name Medisize Holding AG and listed as an 

 independent company on June 23, 2006, on SIX Swiss 

Exchange. Medisize was operating with two segments 

in the dental and medical consumables markets. 

Effective as at April 30, 2008, the medical segment 

was sold to the Finnish Medifiq Group and the 

 Company name was changed to   COLTENE Holding AG.

The organization of   COLTENE Group can be described  

as follows:

Board of Directors

Nick Huber (Chairman), Robert Heberlein, 

Erwin Locher, Matthew Robin, Jerry Sullivan

Marketing



16 | Corporate Governance

2 CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Information about the capital structure can be found 

in  COLTENE Holding AG’s Articles of Incorporation,  

in the Financial Statements of  COLTENE Holding AG as 

well as in the Investor Relations section on page 62  

of this Report. The Articles of Incorporation in German 

as well as an inofficial translation in English are avail-

able on the website at www.COLTENE.com/index_en.

php?TPL=10209.

2.1 CAPITAL

Details on the capital are included in the notes to 

 COLTENE Holding AG’s financial statements on page 57.

2.2 AUTHORIZED OR CONTINGENT CAPITAL 

IN PARTICULAR

 COLTENE Holding AG has no authorized or contingent 

capital. 

2.3 CHANGES IN CAPITAL

The following changes in equity have occurred during 

the last three financial years.

IN CHF 1000  31.12.2011 31.12.2010 31.12.2009

Share capital  422 422 422

Statutory reserves  84 18 015 18 015

Capital contribution reserve  13 417   

Reserves for treasury stock  3 240 3 010 3 010

Net income brought forward  30 422 30 458 28 087

Total  47 585 51 905 49 534

Based on the AGM’s decision on April 28, 2011, the 

“Reserves from previous capital contributions” in the 

amount of TCHF 20,677 were set apart and presented 

separately through a transfer from the balance sheet 

item “Statutory reserves” in the amount of TCHF 

17,930 and from the balance sheet item “Net incomce 

brought forward” in the amount of TCHF 2747 to a 

new balance sheet item “Capital contribution re-

serves”. The AGM decided on April 28, 2011 to distrib-

ute to the shareholders CHF 1.75 out of the “Re-

serves from previous capital contributions”. The total 

amount paid out was TCHF 7261.

FMR LLC, 82 Devonshire Street, Boston, MA 02109/

USA, held directly and indirectly over Fidelity Manage-

ment & Research Company, Fidelity Management  

Trust Company as well as Pyramis Global Advisors Trust 

Company LLC and Pyramis Global Advisors LLC a  

total of 421,500 registered shares equalling 9.99% of 

the voting rights in COLTENE Holding AG since a sale  

on December 7, 2010. Of that 9.75% stem from the 

share ownership of FA Small Cap Fund managed by 

Fidelity Management & Research Company.

Tweedy, Browne Company LLC reported on February 5, 

2008, the possession of 218,560 registered shares 

since January 29, 2008, representing 5.18% of the 

voting rights through various funds or managed 

accounts. Of the shares, 186,990 shares belong to 

Tweedy, Browne Global Fund, Inc. This fund had 

reached the new 3% reporting threshold already 

before December 1, 2007. 

Schroder Investment Management Limited,  

31 Gresham Street, London, EC2V 7QA, Great Britain, 

reduced its holdings of registered shares of  COLTENE 

Holding AG on October 23, 2007 to 175,783 shares, 

which represented 4.17% of the voting rights. 

Robert Heberlein, Zumikon/ZH, held directly and 

indirectly through Burix Holding AG, Zurich, which  

he controls, 151.153 registered shares, representing 

3.58% of the voting rights (source: according to 

Corporate Governance disclosures). 

Credit Suisse Asset Management Funds AG, 

Kalan  dergasse 4, 8045 Zurich, holds 128,466 shares  

or 3.04% of the voting rights since a purchase on 

October 12, 2009.

UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG, P.O. Box, 

8098 Zurich, holds 126,978 shares or 3.01% of  

the voting rights since a purchase on May 27, 2011.

1.3 CROSS-SHAREHOLDING

 COLTENE Holding AG has no cross-shareholding 

arrangements with other companies.
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2.4 SHARES AND PARTICIPATION CERTIFICATES

The Company’s share capital consists of 4,219,000 

registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.10  

each. The shares are traded in the main section 

of SIX Swiss Exchange (security no. 2.534.325,  

ISIN CH0025343259, symbol CLTN). All shares are  

fully paid up and entitled to dividends.  COLTENE  

Holding AG has not issued any participation certifi-

cates. 

2.5 PROFIT-SHARING CERTIFICATES

 COLTENE Holding AG has not issued any profit- 

sharing certificates.

2.6 RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFERABILITY 

OF SHARES AND NOMINEE REGISTRATIONS

According to §4 of the Articles of Incorporation, only 

individuals who are registered in the share register 

may be recognized as the owners or beneficiaries of 

traded shares. Registration of ownership may be 

refused only in cases where the purchaser does not 

expressly declare that he has acquired the shares  

for his or her own account. The Board of Directors 

may cancel a registration of a shareholder or nominee 

in the share register, after hearing the respective 

parties, if the entry was made based on false declara-

tions. The relevant party is to be immediately in-

formed of this cancellation. The Board of Directors 

may define principles for the registration of fiduciaries 

or nominees and stipulate the necessary rules to 

guarantee com pliance with the afore-mentioned 

prin ciples.

2.7 CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND WARRANTS/OPTIONS

 COLTENE Holding AG has no outstanding convertible 

bonds or options.

3 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

On December 31, 2011, the Board of Directors of 

 COLTENE Holding AG consisted of five members.

3.1 MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The personal details together with the other activ-

ities and vested interests of individual members of  

the Board of Directors are listed below:

Nick Huber

 » Chairman of the Board of Directors  

(year of first election: 2005)

 » Businessman

 » Non-executive member

 » Swiss citizen, 47

Professional background (main stages)

 » 1990 – 1995 Account Manager, IBM (Schweiz) AG, 

Zurich

 » 1995 – 2005 Divisional Head, SFS Unimarket AG, 

Heerbrugg/SG

 » Since 2005 member of the Executive  

Management of SFS Services AG, Heerbrugg/SG

Other important activities and vested interests

 » Member of the Board of Directors of Alpha Rheintal 

Bank, Heerbrugg/SG

 » Member of the Board of Directors of  

Huwa Finanz- und Beteiligungs AG, Heerbrugg/SG

 » Member of the Board of Directors of  

Gurit Holding AG, Wattwil/SG

 » Member of the Board of Directors of  

Orell Füssli Holding AG, Zurich

Robert Heberlein

 » Member of the Board of Directors  

(year of first election: 2005)

 » Attorney-at-law

 » Non-executive member

 » Swiss citizen, 71

Professional background (main stages)

 » 1977 – 2008 Partner, Lenz & Staehelin, Zurich

 » Since 2009 Counsel of Lenz & Staehelin, Zurich

Other important activities and vested interests

 » Chairman of the Board of Directors of  

Huwa Finanz- und Beteiligungs AG, Heerbrugg/SG

 » Member of the Board of Directors of Geberit AG, 

Jona/SG

 » Member of the Board of Directors of  

Gurit Holding AG, Wattwil/SG

Erwin Locher

 » Member and Delegate of the Board of Directors 

(year of first election: 2009)

 » Economics, University Basel, MBA, University  

of Toronto (Rotman)/University St Gallen

 » Non-executive member  

(since July 1, 2011 CEO ad interim)

 » Swiss citizen, 59
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 » 2003 – 2006 CEO Gurit Heberlein Dental Care, 

Wattwil/SG

 » 2006 – 2008 CEO  COLTENE Holding AG  

(former Medisize Holding AG), Wattwil/SG

Other important activities and vested interests

 » Jerry Sullivan has no other important activities  

and vested interests.

3.2 ELECTION AND TERM OF OFFICE

The members of the Board of Directors are elected  

by the shareholders for a period of one year. 

At the end of their term of office, members may be  

re-elec  ted. There is no limit to the period of office  

or age of members of the Board of Directors. The  

members of the Board of Directors are elected  

person by person.

3.3 INTERNAL ORGANIZATION

3.3.1 ALLOCATION OF TASKS WITHIN 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible  

for the management of the company and the super-

vision of the persons in charge of the management.  

The Board of Directors represents the company and 

takes care of all matters which are not delegated  

by law, the Articles of Incorporation or the organiza-

tional regulations to another body.

The Board of Directors’ main duties can be summa-

rized as follows:

 » determination and formulation of the business 

strategy

 » purchase and sale of participations or establish-

ment and liquidation of Group companies

 » approval of investments in and divestments of 

fixed assets exceeding CHF 200,000 in value

 » definition of  COLTENE Group’s finance strategy 

 » determination of financial accounting and reporting, 

financial control, and financial planning

 » definition of  COLTENE Group’s organizational 

structure

 » appointment of the persons in charge of the 

management and their supervision

 » approval of the Auditor’s report and Annual Report 

as well as preparation of the General Meeting  

of the Shareholders and the execu tion of its  

resolutions

Professional background (main stages)

 » 1979 – 1982 Sandoz AG, Basel, Internal Auditor

 » 1982 – 1986 Mibelle AG, Buchs/AG,  

(subsidiary of Migros), Head Logistics

 » 1986 – 1987 Zellweger AG, Uster/ZH, Treasurer

 » 1987 – 1991 Mibelle AG, Buchs/AG,  

(subsidiary of Migros), Vice President Finance

 » 1991 – 1996 Allo Pro AG, Baar/ZG (subsidiary of Sulzer 

Medica), Vice President Finance, then President

 » 1996 – 2004 Mathys Medical AG, Bettlach/SO,  

CEO and President Synthes Division

Other important activities and vested interests

 » Member of the Board of Directors of  

Thommen Medical AG, Waldenburg/BL

 » President Medtech Switzerland, Bern

Matthew Robin

 » Member of the Board of Directors  

(year of first election: 2006)

 » M. Eng. in Chemical Engineering, Imperial College,  

University of London

 » Non-executive member

 » British and Swiss citizen, 47

Professional background (main stages)

 » 1987 – 1998 Lonza Fine Chemicals, various functions 

in the USA and in Switzerland (last function:  

Business Director US Custom Manufacturing)

 » 1998 – 2003 Disetronic, Burgdorf/BE  

(last function: Head Disetronic Injection Systems)

 » 2003 – 2006 Ypsomed Holding AG, Burgdorf/BE, CEO

 » 2007 – 2011 Tecan Holding AG, Männedorf/ZH,  

Divisional Head Liquid Handling & Robotics

 » Since 2011 ELSA/Mifroma, Estavayer-le-Lac/FR, 

CEO

Other important activities and vested interests

 » Matthew Robin has no other important activities 

and vested interests. 

Jerry Sullivan

 » Member of the Board of Directors  

(year of first election: 2008)

 » Bachelor of arts

 » Non-executive member

 » American citizen, 67

Professional background (main stages)

 » 1981 – 1992 President and CEO,  

Whaledent International Inc., USA

 » 1992 – 2002 Managing Director,  

Coltène/Whaledent Inc., Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio/USA
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3.3.2 MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEES 

OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, THEIR DUTIES 

AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board of Directors has delegated the operational 

management to the Executive Management Board 

headed by the Chief Executive Officer. The chairman  

of the Board of Directors organizes and manages  

the work of the Board of Directors. 

The Board has formed permanent committees:

AUDIT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Chairman: Robert Heberlein

Members: Nick Huber, Erwin Locher, Matthew Robin, 

Jerry Sullivan

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee 

assists the Board of Directors in its supervisory 

duties. More specifically, the Audit and Corporate 

Governance Committee has the following main  

tasks and duties to perform:

 » approval of the auditing program and audit fees 

and form a judgment of the effectiveness of the 

external audits

 » review, amendment, and approval of the risk 

management assessment and system as well as 

control the fulfillment of defined measures

 » review and assessment of the effectiveness of  

the internal control system and control the 

fulfillment and effectiveness of corrective actions

 » review of the company and the consolidated 

financial statements as well as interim statements 

intended for publication

 » regularly review of the principles concerning 

Corporate Governance 

 » proposal to the Board of Directors of amendments to 

the Articles of Incorporation or internal regulations

NOMINATION AND COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Chairman: Matthew Robin

Members: Robert Heberlein, Nick Huber, Erwin Locher, 

Jerry Sullivan

The Nomination and Compensation Committee carries 

out the following duties:

 » determination of the remuneration of the members 

of the Board of Directors

 » definition of the principles for the remuneration of 

the members of the Executive Management Board 

and submission of these to the Board of Directors 

for approval

 » definition of principles for the selection of candi-

dates for election or re-election to the Board  

of Directors

 » preparation of the selection and assessment of 

the candidates for the position of the CEO

 » approval of appointments of division heads and 

other members of the senior management

 » approval of the remuneration to be paid to the 

senior management

 » approval of the general guidelines for the  

Human Resources management of the Group

3.3.3 WORKING METHODS OF THE BOARD 

OF DIRECTORS AND ITS COMMITTEES

The Board of Directors meets annually for at least  

four ordinary, mainly one-day meetings. Extraordinary 

meetings may be held as necessary. Every member  

of the Board of Directors is entitled to request an 

immediate meeting, provided that he names its purpose. 

In 2011, the Board of Directors met eight times. The 

Audit and Corporate Governance Committee met one 

time and discussed committee specific topics during 

selected Board of Directors meetings. The Nomination 

and Compensation Committee met one time in 2011. 

Meetings are summoned in writing by the Chairman.  

An invitation together with a detailed agenda and 

documentation is sent to all participants at least 

seven days in advance of the date set for the meeting.

As a rule, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief 

Financial Officer attend meetings of the Board  

of Directors. In order to ensure that the Board  

of Directors has sufficient information to make  

decisions, other members of staff or third parties 

may also be invited to attend.

The Board of Directors is quorate if all members  

have been duly invited and the majority of its members 

take part in the decision-making process. Members 

may participate in deliberations and the passing of 

resolutions by telephone, by video conference or other 

suitable electronic media if all participants are in 

agreement. The decisions of the Board of Directors 

are taken on the basis of the votes submitted. In  

the event of a tie, the Chairman has the casting vote. 

Decisions may also be made in writing.
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4.1 MEMBERS OF THE EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

The personal details together with the other activi-

ties and vested interests of individual members of 

the Executive Management are listed below:

Andreas Meldau (until June 30, 2011)

 » Chief Executive Officer  COLTENE Group

 » Lic. iur. University Zurich, SVM Diploma University 

of St Gallen

 » Swiss citizen, 53 years

Professional background (main stages)

 » 1985 – 1990 Sales Manager NCR/AT&T,  

Wallisellen/ZH

 » 1990 – 1992 Martin Engineering, Egg/ZH

 » 1993 – 1999 CEO AVL Medical Instruments  

Schaffhausen

 » 1999 – 2002 CEO redIT Services, Zug

 » 2002 – 2006 CEO Coltène/Whaledent EMEA

 » 2007 – 2008 COO Medisize Dental

 » 2008 – 2011 CEO  COLTENE Group  

(former Medisize Holding AG)

Erwin Locher (since July 1, 2011)

 » Delegate of the Board of Directors and Chief 

Executive Officer  ad interim, COLTENE Group

 » His personal details together with the other 

activities and vested interests are presented 

unter section 3.1

Martin Schaufelberger (expected start June 1, 2012)

 » Designated Chief Executive Officer  COLTENE Group

 » Electrical Engineer, Fachhochschule für Technik, 

Rapperswil, SG

 » MBA Marketing, City University of Seattle  

Switzerland, Zurich

 » Swiss citizen, 47 years

Professional background (main stages)

 » 1988 – 1998 Zellwegger Uster AG, Uster/ZH, various 

functions in Switzerland and Japan. Last function: 

General Manager Strategic Marketing

 » 1998 – 2001 Head Marketing and Sales Kunststoff 

Schwanden AG, Schwanden/GL

 » 2001 – 2007 Deputy CEO Kunststoff Schwanden AG, 

Schwanden/GL

 » 2007 – 2012 CEO Kunststoff Schwanden AG, 

Schwanden/GL

Proposals may also be sent to all members and they 

are regarded as passed if the majority of members 

agree unconditionally and no member insists on  dis- 

cussion of the issues in question in a formal meeting. 

Members of the Board of Directors are obliged to 

leave meetings when issues are discussed that affect 

their own interests or the interests of persons  

close to them. 

All proposals and decisions are entered in the minutes 

to the meeting. The minutes also contain a summary 

of important requests to speak and any deliberations.

3.4 DEFINITION OF AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY

The areas of responsibility between the Board of 

Directors and the Executive Management are defined 

in COLTENE Holding AG’s organizational regulations 

and can be summarised as follows: With the exception 

of decisions which according to article 716a of the 

Swiss Code of Obligations are part of its indefeasible 

and non-transferable duties, and those additional 

duties listed under 3.3.1, the Board of Directors has 

delegated the executive control of COLTENE Group 

and, with it, operational management of the entire 

COLTENE Group, to the Executive Management.

3.5 INFORMATION AND CONTROL INSTRUMENTS 

VIS-À-VIS EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

As a rule, the Executive Management updates the 

Board of Directors on operations and  COLTENE 

Group’s financial position every month. In addition, the 

CEO and CFO report on business and all matters of 

relevance to the Board of Directors at each meeting 

of the Board of Directors. Every member of the 

Board of Directors has the right to ask any member 

of the Executive Management for information  

about matters within his remit, even outside meet-

ings. The Chairman of the Board of Directors is also 

informed by the CEO about all businesses and issues  

of a fundamental nature or of special importance.

4 EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

On December 31, 2011,  COLTENE Holding AG’s Execu-

tive Management consisted of the CEO and the CFO.



Corporate Governance | 21

Hans Grüter

 » Chief Financial Officer  COLTENE Group

 » PhD Business Administration University Zurich,  

AMP Wharton

 » Swiss citizen, 52 years

Professional background (main stages)

 » 1996 – 1998 CFO, Melcher AG, Uster/ZH

 » 1998 – 2001 Divisional President Europe,  

Power One Inc., Camarillo, USA

 » 2002 – 2006 CFO Wicor Holding AG  

(Weidmann Group), Rapperswil/SG

 » Since 2006 CFO  COLTENE Group  

(former Medisize Holding AG)

4.2 MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No agreements pertaining to the provision of man-

agerial services exist between  COLTENE Holding AG  

and other companies or natural persons outside 

 COLTENE Group.

5 COMPENSATION, SHAREHOLDINGS, AND LOANS

The Chairman of the Board of Directors and all 

members of the Board of Directors are paid for their 

services with a yearly fixed amount in cash. In addi- 

tion, all members of the Board of Directors receive a 

fixed number of shares having a restriction period  

of three years. The yearly fixed amount in cash and 

the number of shares awarded are determined by 

the Nomination and Compensation Committee once  

a year.

The compensations of the Chief Executive Officer  

and of the Chief Financial Officer are determined  

by the Board of Directors on the recommendation  

of the Nomination and Compensation Committee.

Apart from their basic salary, the members of the 

Executive Management receive a performance- and 

success-related bonus. The basic salary takes  

into account the functional value of the position, the 

individual qualifications required and local employ-

ment conditions. A bonus and share participation 

program is in place for the members of the Execu-

tive Management as well as a limited number of key 

managers. The functional parameters of this program 

are measuring the performance to targets to key 

perfor mance indicators (KPI) such as EBIT and net 

sales, as well as to the fulfillment of personal targets. 

KPI’s account for 75% and personal targets for 25%. 

Depending on the seniority of a participant, 20% of the 

bonus is allo ca t ed in shares at a fixed share price 

benchmarked to the SPI. Total bonus, including shares 

(if any), is capped depending on the seniority between 

40% and 100% of the fixed salary of any  participant. The 

program is defined and reviewed by the Nomination 

and Compensation Committee on an annual basis.

For a summary of the remunerations paid during the 

year under review, refer to page 59 of the Financial 

Report.

Apart of the ordinary pro rata salary and bonuses no 

exit remuneration to a person leaving office during 

the year under review, and no remuneration to former 

members of governing bodies was paid during the 

year under review. No loans, securities, advances or 

credits have been granted to members of the Board 

of Directors or members of the  Executive Manage-

ment or parties closely linked to any of them except  

a total of TCHF 58 as disclosed in note 27 of the 

notes to Group financials statements (previous year 

TCHF 0).

In addition, on December 31, 2011, there were no 

options on shares of  COLTENE Holding AG issued.

6 SHAREHOLDERS’ PARTICIPATION RIGHTS

Details of shareholders’ participation rights can be 

found in the Articles of Incorporation of  COLTENE 

Holding AG. The Articles of Incorporation in German 

are available on the website at www.COLTENE.com/

index_de.php?TPL=10209.

6.1 VOTING RIGHT RESTRICTIONS AND 

REPRESENTATION

The Articles of Incorporation contain no restric- 

tions on voting rights. Every registered share repre-

sented at the General Meeting is entitled to one  

vote. A shareholder may vote his own shares or be 

represented at the General Meeting by way of 

a written proxy. 
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7 CHANGES OF CONTROL AND DEFENSE MEASURES

7.1 PUBLIC PURCHASE OFFERS

The Articles of Incorporation of  COLTENE Holding AG 

do not stipulate an alleviation or exemption for the 

duty to submit a public offer according to articles 32 

and 52 of the Swiss Federal Act on Stock Exchanges  

and Securities Trading (SESTA) (Bundesge setz  

über die Börsen und den Effektenhandel, BEHG).

7.2 CLAUSES ON CHANGES OF CONTROL

No change of ownership clauses are in effect at 

December 31, 2011, at  COLTENE Group and senior 

management level.

8 AUDITORS

8.1 DURATION OF MANDATE AND LEAD AUDITOR’S 

TERM OF OFFICE

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, St Gallen (PwC), has 

been  COLTENE Holding AG’s statutory auditor since 

the foundation of the Company (December 15, 2005) 

and also serves as Group auditors. Lorenz Lipp is  

lead auditor since December 15, 2005.

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee 

ensures that the lead auditor is rotated at least 

every seven years. 

8.2 AUDITING FEES

The total sum charged for auditing services during 

the year under review by PwC in its capacity as 

 COLTENE Group’s statutory auditor amounted to 

CHF 343,125.

Audit Services are defined as the standard audit work 

performed each year in order to issue opinions on  

the parent company and consolidated financial state-

ments of the Group, to issue opinions relating to  

the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls 

over financial reporting, and to issue reports on  

local statutory financial statements. Also included  

are audit services that are only provided by the  

Group auditor, such as auditing of non-recurring 

trans actions and implementation of new accounting 

policies, as well as audits of accounting infrastruc-

ture system controls.

6.2 STATUTORY QUORUMS

Unless otherwise determined by law, a General Meeting 

convened in accordance with the Articles of In  - 

cor poration is quorate regardless of the number of 

shareholders attending or the number of shares 

represented. To be valid and subject to statutory 

provisions, resolutions require an absolute major- 

ity of the votes submitted.

 

Important decisions of the General Meeting as defined 

in article 704 §1 of the Swiss Code of  Obligations 

require at least two thirds of the votes present and 

the absolute majority of the par value of shares 

represented.

6.3 CONVOCATION OF THE GENERAL MEETING 

OF SHAREHOLDERS

The ordinary General Meeting of the Shareholders 

takes place annually within six months of the end  

of the Company’s financial year. Extraordinary General 

Meetings can be called by decision of the General 

Meeting, the Board of Directors, at the request of 

the auditors, or if shareholders representing at  

least a tenth of the Company capital submit a request  

in writing, stating the purpose, to the Board of 

Directors.

The invitation to the General Meeting of Shareholders 

is published in the Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce. 

All shareholders whose addresses are registered in 

the share register are notified by a letter.

6.4 AGENDA

The Articles of Incorporation contain no regulations 

relating to agendas that differ from those set forth 

by the law. 

6.5 ENTRIES IN THE SHARE REGISTER

Shareholders and/or beneficiaries of registered shares 

are entitled to vote if they are registered in the 

share register at the time of the General Meeting  

of Shareholders. The Board of Directors shall  

determine and indicate in the invitation to any General 

Meeting of Shareholders the relevant cut-off date 

for registrations in the share register that shall be 

relevant for the eligibility of any shareholder to 

participate in and vote at such General Meeting.
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8.3 ADDITIONAL FEES

Fees for additional services supplied by the auditors 

during the year under review amounted to CHF 73,977, 

of which fees for tax advisory (tax compliance,  

tax return etc.) amounted to CHF 17,180 and fees for 

legal advisory to CHF 14,151 and other advisory  

CHF 42,646.

8.4 SUPERVISORS AND CONTROL INSTRUMENTS 

PERTAINING TO THE AUDITORS

As explained in section 3.3.2., the Board of Directors 

has established an Audit and Corporate Governance 

Committee to monitor the external auditors (statutory 

and  COLTENE Group auditors).

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee, 

acting on behalf of the Board of Directors, is respon-

sible for overseeing the activities of PwC. During  

2011, the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee 

held one meeting. At this meeting, PwC par  ticipated 

during the discussion of agenda items that dealt with 

accounting, financial reporting or auditing matters  

and any other matters relevant for their audit. An 

additional meeting was held with the Chairman of the 

Audit and Corporate Governance Committee and  

PwC for audit planning purposes. 

As part of its duties, the Audit and Corporate Gover -

nance Committee also assesses the services and fees 

charged by the external auditors as well as their 

independence from the entire Board of Directors and 

 COLTENE management. Criteria applied for the per-

formance assessment include technical and operational 

competence, independent and objective view, suffi-

cient resources employed, focus on areas of significant 

risk to  COLTENE Holding AG, willingness to probe  

and challenge, ability to provide effective, practical 

recommendations and open and effective communi -

cation and coordination with the Audit and Corporate 

Governance Committee.

On an annual basis, the Audit and Corporate Govern-

ance Committee and PwC discuss PwC’s independence  

from  COLTENE Group and  COLTENE management.

Based on the outcome of the performance of PwC  

as well as other criteria, the Audit and Corporate 

Governance Committee decides on its recommendation 

to the Board of Directors whether PwC should be 

proposed to the Annual General Meeting for re-elec-

tion. Based on the recommendation by the Audit  

and Corporate Governance Committee the Board  

of Directors nominates an independent auditor  

for election at the Annual General Meeting.

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee 

recommended to the Board of Directors the ap- 

proval, and the Board of Directors approved the 

Annual Report for the year ended December 31,  

2011, including the audited financial statements.

9 INFORMATION POLICY

 COLTENE Holding AG provides its shareholders  

with information in the form of the Annual Report and 

Half-year Report. Important events are published 

immediately through press releases and/or letters to 

shareholders. Further information can be requested 

at the contact address indicated on page 62.

10 INTERNET

Shareholders and other interested parties can   

obtain information about  COLTENE Group on the  

Internet at www.coltene.com and subscribe 

to a news service. For details refer to page 60.

 

11 AD HOC PUBLICITY

 COLTENE Holding AG maintains regular contact with 

the financial world in general and with important 

investors. At the same time, it abides by the legally 

prescribed principle of treating all parties equally  

as regards communication. Relevant new facts are 

published openly and are available to all interested 

parties.

For important dates of publications this year,  

the following year and contact addresses refer  

to pages 62  and 63.
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GROUP INCOME STATEMENT 

IN CHF 1000 REF. 2011 2010

     

Net sales 1 146 133 153 578

 Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress  – 1 126 931

 Work performed by entity and capitalized  14 49

 Raw material and consumables used 2 – 43 379 – 45 093

 Personnel expenses 3 – 53 651 – 55 321

 Other operating expenses 5 – 30 807 – 30 981

 Depreciation and amortization 6 – 4 934 – 4 722

Operating profit (EBIT)  12 250 18 441

 Financial income 7 92 1 242

 Financial expenses 7 – 3 342 – 2 677

 Share of loss of associates 7, 17 0 – 838

 Impairment on investments in associates 7, 17 0 – 2 957

Net profit before tax expenses  9 000 13 211

 Tax expenses 8 – 3 012 – 3 997

Net profit continuing operations 10 5 988 9 214

 Profit from discontinued operations 25 0 71

Profit for the period  5 988 9 285

     

Earnings per share 10 CHF 1.44 CHF 2.24

Diluted earnings per share 10 CHF 1.44 CHF 2.24

Earnings per share from continuing operations 10 CHF 1.44 CHF 2.22

Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations 10 CHF 1.44 CHF 2.22

The notes are part of the  COLTENE Group financial statements. 

GROUP STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

IN CHF 1000  2011 2010

     

Profit for the period  5 988 9 285

 

Other comprehensive income for the period: 

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations, before and net of tax  – 1 620 – 9 302

Comprehensive income for the period  4 368 – 17

     

Profit for the period attributable to the owner of the parent  5 988 9 285

Comprehensive income for the period attributable to the owner of the parent  4 368 – 17

The notes are part of the  COLTENE Group financial statements. 
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GROUP STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

IN CHF 1000 REF. 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

      

Assets    

  Cash and cash equivalents  3 128 4 133

  Accounts receivable from deliveries and sales 11 30 644 33 088

  Tax receivables  173 108

  Other receivables and prepaid expenses 12 3 256 3 789

  Inventories 13 29 938 32 469

 Current assets  67 139 73 587

  Property, plant and equipment 1, 14 30 540 31 680

  Financial assets 15 26 5

  Intangible assets 1, 16 48 927 50 310

  Deferred tax assets 9 3 255 3 106

 Non-current assets  82 748 85 101

 Total assets  149 887 158 688

      

      

Liabilities    

  Current bank loans 18 30 177 34 072

  Accounts payable to suppliers 19 5 601 8 612

  Other accounts payable and accruals 20 10 681 9 378

  Tax liabilities  761 1 553

  Other short-term provisions 21 378 192

 Current liabilities  47 598 53 807

  Other long-term liabilities 22 0 14

  Deferred tax liabilities 9 6 615 6 290

  Other long-term provisions 21 1 082 729

 Non-current liabilities  7 697 7 033

 Total liabilities  55 295 60 840

  Share capital  414 415

  Currency translation adjustments  – 27 662 – 26 042

  Retained earnings  121 840 123 475

 Total equity 23 94 592 97 848

 Total liabilities and equity  149 887 158 688

The notes are part of the  COLTENE Group financial statements.
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GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT

IN CHF 1000 REF. 2011 2010

     

 Net profit continuing operations  5 988 9 214

 Depreciation and amortization 6, 14, 16 4 934 4 722

 Other non-cash items  6 987 8 605

 Change in accounts receivable from deliveries and sales  1 448 2 666

 Change in inventories  1 033 – 5 116

 Change in other current assets  482 – 814

 Change in current liabilities  – 1 281 378

 Interest paid  – 1 195 – 673

 Interest received  92 22

 Income tax paid  – 3 905 – 4 832

Cash flow from operating activities  14 583 14 172

 Purchase of property, plant and equipment  – 3 390 – 1 801

 Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  58 102

 Purchase of intangible assets  – 1 277 – 1 636

 Proceeds of financial assets net  – 27 0

 Acquisition of subsidiaries – net of cash 17, 24 0 – 5 973

 Discontinued operations 25 0 – 59

Cash flow from investing activities  – 4 636 – 9 367

 Proceeds from loans and financial liabilities  25 340 23 770

 Repayments of loans and financial liabilities  – 28 542 – 17 076

 Dividend to shareholders 23 0 – 12 862

 Distribution to shareholders out of capital contribution reserves 23 – 7 261 0

 Purchase of treasury stock  – 363 – 124

Cash flow from financing activities  – 10 826 – 6 292

 Exchange rate differences  – 126 – 260

Change in cash and cash equivalents  – 1 005 – 1 747

     

 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  4 133 5 880

 Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  3 128 4 133

The notes are part of the  COLTENE Group financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

IN CHF 1000 REF.

SHARE 

CAPITAL 

CURRENCY  

TRANSLATION 

 ADJUSTMENTS

RETAINED  

EARNINGS TOTAL

       

01.01.2010  415 – 16 740 127 051 110 726

 Comprehensive income for the year  0 – 9 302 9 285 – 17

 Share-based transactions with management 3, 27 0 0 121 121

 Dividend distribution 23 0 0 – 12 862 – 12 862

 Change in treasury stock  0 0 – 120 – 120

31.12.2010  415 – 26 042 123 475 97 848

 Comprehensive income for the year  0 – 1 620 5 988 4 368

 Share-based transactions with management 3, 27 0 0 120 120

 Distribution out of capital contribution reserves 23 0 0 – 7 261 – 7 261

 Change in treasury stock  – 1 0 – 482 – 483

31.12.2011  414 – 27 662 121 840 94 592

The notes are part of the  COLTENE Group financial statements.
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NOTES TO GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REPORTING ENTITY

 COLTENE Holding AG (former Medisize Holding AG) – 

the holding company of the  COLTENE Group (“the 

Group”) – is a stock corporation according to Swiss 

Code of Obligations. The company’s legal domicile  

is in Altstätten, Switzerland.  COLTENE Holding AG was 

founded in accordance with Swiss company law on 

December 15, 2005. The Group was originally active in 

the dental and medical markets.  COLTENE Holding AG 

was established to integrate the former Health Care 

division of Gurit Holding AG under one company as  

well as to list  COLTENE Holding AG as an independent 

company at the SIX Swiss Exchange on June 23, 2006. 

After the sale of the entire medical business on  

April 30, 2008, the Group is fully focused on the dental 

business.

OPERATING SEGMENTS AND PRODUCTS

Under the umbrella brand Coltène/Whaledent the 

Group develops, manufactures and sells via distribu-

tion channels a broad and comprehensive range of 

disposables and tools for dentists and dental labora-

tories. The Group operates one segment defined  

in line with management structure, the organizational 

setup, the reporting and allocation of resources  

by the chief decision maker and the products of the 

Group.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

GENERAL REMARKS

The Group financial statements were compiled in 

compliance with the consolidation and valuation 

principles described as follows as well as in accord-

ance with the International Financial Reporting 

 Standards (IFRS). The figures are based on the histori-

cal cost convention and were modified accor ding to  

the revaluation of certain financial assets carried at 

fair value.

The preparation of financial statements requires  

the use of certain critical accounting estimates which 

could impact the assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities at the balance sheet date as well as income 

and expenses of the reporting period. It also requires 

management to exercise its judgment in the process 

of applying the Group’s accounting policies. If at  

a later moment of time such judgments and assump-

tions made by management based on the best infor-

mation available at the time when books were closed 

differ from the actual circumstances, the original 

judgments and assumptions made are changed for 

the year in which the respective circumstances  

have changed.

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 

issued the following new standards and interpreta-

tions to be applied for annual periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2011:

 » IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International 

Financial Reporting Standards – Limited  

excemption from comparative IFRS 7 disclosures 

(effective as from July 1, 2010) 

 » IAS 24 (Revised) – Related Party Disclosures 

(effective as from January 1, 2011)

 » IAS 32 (Amendment) – Financial Instruments: 

Presentation (effective as from February 1, 2010)

 » IFRIC 14 (Amendment) – The Limit on a Defined 

Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements  

and their Interaction (effective as from  

January 1, 2011)

 » IFRIC 19 – Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with 

Equity Instruments (effective as from July 1, 2010)

 

In addition, few standards have changed on July 1, 

2010, or January 1, 2011, due to the different annual 

improvement projects.

IFRS 3 (Revised) requires the Group to include in the 

purchase consideration the estimated amount of  

any contingent considerations and the measurement 

to fair value, through the income statement, of  

any interest in an acquired company that had been 

previously held. Furthermore, transaction costs  

are expensed as incurred and no longer form part of 

the acquisition price. IAS 39 (Amendment) requires 

adoption from January 1, 2010. It requires that any 

options, including those concerning Vigodent, related 

to potential acquisitions which up to December 31, 

2009, do not require recognition, are recorded at 

their fair values and subsequent fair value adjust-

ments through the income statement. 
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The revised standard was applied to the acquisition of 

the controlling interest in Vigodent SA on October 29, 

2010. This acquisition has occurred in stages. The 

revised standard requires goodwill to be determined 

only at the acquisition date rather than at the previ-

ous stages. The determination of goodwill includes the 

previously held equity interest to be adjusted to  

fair value, with any gain or loss recorded in the income 

statement.

Currently, the following new standards as well as 

amendments to existing standards and interpreta-

tions are published but not early adopted:

 » IAS 1 revised – Presentation of financial state-

ments (effective as from July 1, 2012)

 » IFRS 7 revised (Amendement) – Disclosure-Transfer 

of financial assets (effective as from July 1, 2011)

 » IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments: Classification and 

Measurement (effective as from January 1, 2015)

 » IAS 12 – Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying 

Assets (effective as from January 1, 2012)

 » IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements 

(effective as from January 1, 2013) 

 » IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements  

(effective as from January 1, 2013)

 » IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

(effective as from January 1, 2013)

 » IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement  

(effective as from January 1, 2013)

 » IAS 19 – Employee Benefits  

(effective as from January 1, 2013)

 » IAS 27 reissued – Separate Financial Statements 

(effective as from January 1, 2013)

 » IAS 28 reissued – Investments in Associates and 

Joint Ventures (effective as from January 1, 2013)

 

The Group does not anticipate any significant impact 

of these changes on future consolidated financial 

statements with the exception of IAS 19. In case of 

early adoption in 2011 the equity would have been 

reduced by CHF 4.0 million (see note 4).

The Group financial statements are based on the 

individual financial statements of the Group’s 

subsi d iaries, prepared according to identical guide-

lines as of December 31. The Group financial state-

ments were prepared in accordance with Swiss 

company law and the accounting principles of the 

listing regulations of the SIX Swiss Exchange.  

If no information to the contrary is provided, the 

applicable currency unit shall be thousand Swiss 

francs (TCHF). Swiss francs are the functional cur-

rency of the Holding company as well as the  

reporting currency of the Group.

The  COLTENE Holding AG Board of Directors autho-

rized these financial statements on February 21, 

2012, for issue. The financial statements are subject 

to approval by the Annual General Meeting of Share-

holders scheduled to take place on April 20, 2012.

COMPANIES CONSOLIDATED

Group subsidiaries, controlled directly or indirectly  

by  COLTENE Holding AG, are fully consolidated. Subsidi-

aries are fully consolidated as of the date on which 

control was transferred to the Group. Subsidiaries are 

con sidered to be de-consolidated as of the date on 

which control ceases. The major companies consolida-

ted are shown in the summary provided on page 54.

Within the scope of consolidation, the following 

changes took place in 2011:

COLTENE Service AG, Dübendorf was merged with 

Coltène/Whaledent AG as of January 1, 2011.

Within the scope of consolidation, the following 

changes took place in 2010:

Vigodent SA Indústria e Comércio, Bonsucesso/ 

Rio de Janeiro, was fully acquired October 29, 2010,

COLTENE do Brasil Participacões Ltda., São Paulo, 

was founded September 27, 2010.

CONSOLIDATION METHOD AND GOODWILL

The Group applies the purchase price method to 

account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. The cost 

of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of  

the assets given and liabilities incurred or assumed 

upon the date of exchange. Identifiable assets 

acquired and (contingent) liabilities assumed are 

measured initially at fair value on the date of acquisi-

tion, irrespective of the extent of any minority 

interest. Acquisition-related costs are expensed  

as incurred.
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The positive difference of the cost of acquisition  

over the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifi-

able net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. 

If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of 

the identifiable net assets, the negative difference  

is accounted for in the Group income statement.

Goodwill from acquisitions prior to December 31, 1994, 

was charged to equity. Goodwill from acquisitions 

after January 1, 1995, and prior to March 31, 2004, has 

been amortized on a straight-line basis over the  

useful life not to exceed 20 years.

Purchases from minority interests may result  

in goodwill, being the difference between any consid-

eration paid and the relevant share acquired of  

the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary.

The assets, liabilities as well as the earnings and 

expenses of the consolidated subsidiaries are 

recorded in their entirety in the consolidated financial 

statements. The share of profit and equity to  

which third-party shareholders are entitled is shown 

separately in the Group statement of financial 

position and income statement. Intra-Group transac-

tions were eliminated thereof. Accounting policies  

of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary 

to ensure consistency with the policies adopted  

by the Group.

ASSOCIATES

Associates are all entities over which the Group  

has significant influence but not control, generally 

accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 

50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates 

are accounted for using the equity method of 

 accounting and are initially recognized at cost. The 

Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill 

identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated 

impairment loss.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition 

profits or losses is recognized in the income state-

ment, and its share of post-acquisition movements in 

reserves is recognized in reserves. The cumulative 

post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the 

carrying amount of the investment. Unrealized gains 

on transactions between the Group and its associates 

are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest  

in the associates. Unrealized losses are also eliminat-

ed unless the transaction provides evidence of an 

impairment of the assets transferred. Accounting 

policies of associates have been changed where 

necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 

adopted by the Group.

In 2010 the following changes in investments  

in associates took place:

Vigodent SA Indústria e Comércio, Bonsucesso/ 

Rio de Janeiro, was fully acquired October 29, 2010

(see notes to Group financial statements, note 24).

PRINCIPLES OF VALUATION

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, 

deposits held at call with banks, other short-term 

highly liquid investments with original maturities  

of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank 

overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current 

liabilites on the statement of financial position.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable in respect of deliveries and 

services and other accounts receivable are initially 

recognized at fair value and subsequently measured  

at amortized cost, minus provisions for impairment.  

Provisions for impairment are made when it is 

objectively foreseeable that less than the full original 

value can be collected. Provisions for impairment 

correspond to the diff erence between the carrying 

amount and the present value of estimated future 

cash flows.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of weighted 

average cost and net realizable value. The cost of 

finished goods and work in progress comprises  

design costs, raw material, direct labor, other direct 

costs and related production overheads (based  

on normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing 

costs. Net realizable value is the estimated selling 

price in the ordinary course of business, less applica-

ble variable selling expenses. Value adjustments are  

made for obsolete and slow moving items.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment take into account  

the categories listed in the following:

 » Machinery and equipment

 » Land

 » Buildings (including installations)

 » Assets under construction

Machinery and equipment are stated at purchase  

cost less depreciation on a straight-line basis over the 

useful life of normally five to ten years, 15 years in 

exceptional cases. Buildings are stated at historical 

cost less depreciation on a straight-line basis over  

the useful life of 40 to 50 years. Land is stated at 

historical cost and is not depreciated.

Leases in which the company holds a significant portion 

of risks and rewards of ownership are classified  

as financial leases. The respective property, plant and 

equipment are carried as assets and depreciated.  

The corresponding leasing obligations are shown as 

liabilities. Leasing installments are distributed 

accordingly, either as capital repayments or interest 

expenses.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

» CLASSIFICATION

The Group classifies its financial assets as follows:

 » At fair value through profit or loss

 » Loans and receivables

 » Held-to-maturity investments

 » Available for sale

The classification depends on the purpose for which 

the financial assets were acquired. Management 

determines the classification of its financial assets  

at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designa-

tion at every reporting date. In the current and prior 

reporting periods, the Group only held financial  

assets at fair value through profit or loss as well  

as loans and receivables.

» FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 

PROFIT OR LOSS

This category has two subcategories, i.e. financial 

assets held for trading, and assets designated at fair 

value through profit or loss at inception. A financial 

asset is classified in this category if acquired princi-

pally for the purpose of selling in the short term or  

by management, if so designated. Derivatives are also 

categorized as held for trading unless they are 

desig nated as hedges. Assets in this category are 

classified as current assets if they are either held  

for trading or are expected to be realized within 

twelve months following the financial position date.

» LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 

assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market. They arise when the 

Group provides money, goods or services directly to  

a debtor with no intention of trading the receivables. 

Receivables are included in current assets, except for 

maturities greater than twelve months following  

the balance sheet date. These loans and receivables 

are classified as non-current financial assets.

» RECOGNITION

Regular purchases and sales of investments are 

recognized on trade date – the date on which the 

Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Invest-

ments are initially recognized at fair value plus 

transaction costs for all financial assets not carried 

at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets 

carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially 

recognized at fair value and transaction costs are 

expensed in the income statement. Investments are 

derecognized when rights to receive cash flows from 

the investments have expired or have been trans-

ferred and the Group has transferred substantially  

all risks and rewards of ownership.
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» SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT/IMPAIRMENT

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or losses 

arising from fair value changes are presented in  

the income statement as financial income or financial 

expense in the period in which they arise. Loans and 

receivables are carried at amortized cost using the 

effective interest method. 

The fair values of quoted investments are based on 

current bid prices. If the market for a financial  

asset is not active as well as for unlisted securities, 

the Group establishes fair value by means of  

specific valuation techniques: recent at arm’s length 

transactions, reference to other basically identical 

instruments, discounted cash flow analysis, and option 

pricing models. On each financial position date, the 

Group shall determine whether there is objective 

evidence that financial assets were impaired. In  

the case of an impairment of the financial assets, the 

respective expenses will be taken into account in  

the income statement.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

» GOODWILL

Goodwill is the difference of the costs of acquisition 

over the Group’s share of the fair value of the iden-

tifiable net assets acquired and represents the future 

economic benefit, which can not be recognized as  

a separate asset. Goodwill is carried in the currency of 

the acquired business and tested annually for impair-

ment and carried at cost less accumulated im pairment 

losses. For purposes of the impairment test, goodwill 

is allocated to the cash-generating unit Vigodent SA 

and “the Group”. Vigodent SA was exceptionally 

considered as a cash-generating unit for 2010 and 

2011. After full integration, Vigodent SA will disappear 

as cash-generating unit for 2012.

» INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER THAN GOODWILL

Intangible assets contain patents, software and 

others. They are stated at historical costs less 

 amor tization on a straight-line basis over the useful 

life normally not exceeding seven years. Intangible 

assets resulting from purchase price allocations such 

as trademarks, brand names or customer relations 

are amortized up to 25 years.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example 

goodwill, are not subject to amortization or depre-

ciation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets 

that are subject to amortization or depreciation  

are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 

amount may not be recoverable. An impairment  

loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s 

carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s 

fair value less costs to sell and the value in use.  

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets 

are grouped at the lowest levels for which there  

are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-gener-

ating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill 

that suffered an impairment are reviewed for 

possible reversal of the impairment at each state-

ment of financial position date.

BORROWINGS

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net  

of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 

subsequently carried at amortized cost; any differ-

ences between the proceeds (net of transaction 

costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the 

income statement over the period of the borrow-

ings using the effective interest method. 

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognized when the Group has  

a present legal or constructive obligation as a result  

of past events and it is probable that an outflow  

of resources which can be reliably estimated will be 

required to settle the obligation. Such provisions  

are made to cover guarantee obligations and liability 

claims where these are not insured. Provisions  

for restructuring measures are made as soon as the 

cor responding decision is taken and communicated. 
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POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The Group maintains various pension fund schemes 

according to state law and other legal requirements 

according to the respective local regulations. The 

non-governmental pension plans are mostly organized 

in form of legally independent pension funds; contri-

butions are paid both by employer and employee.  

All pension plans outside Switzerland are accounted 

for as defined contribution plans. 

The Swiss pension plan administrated by an indepen-

dent insurance company is accounted for as defined 

benefit plans according to IAS 19. The pension liability 

resulting from defined benefit plans is calculated  

by independent actuaries yearly using the “projected 

unit credit method.” Actuarial gains and losses are 

charged or credited on a straight-line basis to income 

over the employee’s expected average remaining 

working lives, when they exceed the greater of 10%  

of the present value of the defined benefit obli- 

gation and 10% of the fair value of plan assets at the 

beginning of the period (“corridor approach”).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

All members of the Board of Directors are paid  

for their services with a yearly fixed amount in cash.  

In addition, all members of the Board of Directors 

receive a fixed number of shares having a restriction 

period of three years. The yearly fixed amount in  

cash and the number of shares awarded are deter-

mined by the Compensation and Nomination 

 Committee from time to time.

A bonus and share participation program is in place  

for the members of the Executive Management as 

well as a limited number of key managers. The func- 

tion parameters of this program are measuring the 

performance to targets to key per formance indica-

tors (KPI) such as EBIT and net sales, as well as to the 

fullfillment of personal targets. KPI’s account for  

75% and personal targets for 25%. Depending on the 

seniority of a participant, 20% of the bonus is allo-

cated in shares at a fixed share price benchmarked 

to the SPI. Total bonus, including shares (if any), is 

capped depending on the seniority between 40% and 

100% of the fixed salary of any participant. 

The program is defined and reviewed by the Com-

pensation and Nomination Committee on an annual 

basis.

TAXES

All taxes payable on income for the financial year are 

provided for in full on financial position date and in  

due compliance with the applicable tax laws. According 

to the liability method, deferred income tax on tempo-

rary differences arising between the tax bases of 

assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 

Group financial statements at enacted or substan-

tially enacted tax rates on financial position date  

is provided in full. Deferred tax assets are recognized  

to the extent that future taxable profit will be 

available. No provisions are recognized for non-

reclaimable withholding taxes on retained earnings  

at subsidiaries as such dividends are not foreseen  

for the immediate future.
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NET SALES

Net sales comprise the fair value of the consideration 

received or receivable for the sale of goods in the 

ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Net sales 

are shown net of value-added tax, rebates and 

discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group. 

The Group recognizes net sales when the amount  

of net sales can be reliably measured, it is probable 

that future economic benefits will flow to a Group 

entity and when specific criteria have been met, for 

example risks and rewards of ownership have been 

transferred to the customer. The Group bases its 

estimates on historical results, taking into considera-

tion the type of customer, the type of transaction 

and the specifics of each arrangement. 

REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE COSTS

Repair and maintenance costs are recognized in  

the income statement when they occur. Expenses 

increasing the value of assets are recognized  

as property, plant and equipment and depreciated 

accordingly.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Research costs are expensed as they occur. Develop-

ment costs are capitalized if they can be determined 

accurately and if it can be safely assumed that the 

project in question will be completed successfully and 

result in future benefits. Development costs capi-

talized are amortized on a straight-line basis and 

over a maximum period of five years.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the 

profit attributable to shareholders of the Group by 

the weighted average number of shares in issue 

during the year excluding shares purchased by the 

Group and held as treasury shares.

DIVIDEND AND CAPITAL DISTRIBUTION

Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders 

is recognized as a liability in the Group’s financial 

statements in the period in which the dividends are 

approved by the company’s shareholders.

FOREIGN CURRENCY

Items included in the financial statements of each of 

the Group’s entities are measured using the cur-

rency of the primary economic environment in which 

the entity operates (functional currency). Transac-

tions conducted in foreign currencies are converted 

into the functional currency at the exchange rate 

applicable on the transaction date. Accounts receiv-

able and payable in foreign currencies are shown  

at the year-end exchange rate. Gains and losses are 

reported in the income statement. 

The financial positions and income statements of 

foreign subsidiaries were converted into Swiss francs 

(presentation currency) at the rate applicable at 

year-end respectively at the average exchange rate 

for the year. Differences resulting from the conver-

sion of shareholders’ equity and the income state-

ments are absorbed under shareholders’ equity and 

have no effect on the profit for the period. These 

conversion differences are only carried forward as of 

January 1, 1994. In the event of the sale of a sub-

sidiary, prorated foreign currency differences are 

taken into account as part of the capital gain or  

loss resulting from the sale. Goodwill from acquisition 

of foreign companies and fair-value adjust ments  

of assets and liabilities in connection with acquisitions 

are also converted at year-end rates.

The most important exchange rates are listed below:

 31.12.2011 Ø 2011 31.12.2010 Ø 2010 31.12.2009

1 USD 0.9351 0.8854 0.9406 1.0433 1.0380

1 EUR 1.2167 1.2330 1.2465 1.3833 1.4877
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management is ensured according to the 

principles defined by Group management. These 

principles define how credit, interest and currency risk 

are to be managed. Additional rules governing the 

management of liquid and financial assets were also 

defined. The subsidiaries manage their financial risk 

according to the defined risk policies, the aim consist-

ing in minimizing the above-mentioned risk, including 

hedging costs. If appropriate, derivative financial 

instruments are used to hedge certain risk positions. 

The Group does not apply hedge accounting. Deri-

vative financial instruments are only agreed upon with 

first class counterparties (banks with rating A or 

better).

CREDIT RISK

There is no substantial credit risk concentration  

in the Group. Group subsidiaries, however, have 

relationships with certain key accounts (see Group 

financial statements, note 1). Management  

regularly assesses the credit potential of all coun-

terparties (especially key accounts) on the basis of 

experiences and expectations. If appropriate, manage-

ment also applies credit insuring instruments, for 

example credit limits.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining 

sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the availability  

of funding through an adequate amount of bank credit 

lines and the ability to close out market positions. 

Group management monitors rolling forecasts of the 

Group’s liquidity reserve (comprises unused credit 

lines (see Group financial statements, note 18) and 

cash and cash equivalents) on the basis of expected 

cash flow.

INTEREST RISK

Sales and operating cash flow do not depend on mar ket 

rate changes. The Group undertakes no sub stantial 

interest bearing activities. Bank loans are subject to 

fixed as well as variable interest rates, with manage-

ment deciding upon the interest rate risk to be taken 

in every individual case. For further details see  

note 18 of the notes to Group financial statements.

If the interest rates had been higher by 50 bps for 

2011 with all other variables held constant, net profit 

for the year would have been TCHF 177 (previous  

year TCHF 121) lower, as a result of higher interest 

expenses on current bank loans. If the interest  

rates had been lower by 50 bps for 2011 with all other 

variables held constant, net profit for the year  

would have been TCHF 177 (previous year TCHF 121) 

higher, as a result of lower interest expenses on 

current bank loans. 

CURRENCY RISK

The Group is internationally active and thus exposed 

to currency fluctuations mainly in EUR and USD.  

If possible and feasible the currency risk is reduced  

by matching the currency in- and outflows. Starting 

from September 2011, the estimated EUR exposure is 

hedged by forwards. Forwards are placed on a rolling 

base at the end of each quarter. For the actual 

quarter 40% to 80% of the estimated exposure is 

hedged. For next quarter 20% to 60%, for the next  

to last quarter 0% to 40% and for the last quarter 

0% to 20% is hedged. Hedges are made by Manage-

ment based on approved guidelines by the Board of 

Directors. Risk associated with the conversion of 

 the foreign currency financial positions of subsidiaries  

is not hedged.

At December 31, 2011, if the CHF had weakened  

by 5% against the USD with all other variables held 

con stant, net profit for the year would have been  

TCHF 14 higher (previous year TCHF 72 lower), mainly 

as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on 

translation of USD denominated accounts receivables 

from deliveries and sales, accounts payables to 

supplier, current bank loans and intercompany loans. 

Net profit is less sensitive to movement in CHF/USD 

exchange rates in 2011 than 2010 mainly because  

of the reduced net amount in USD. At December 31, 

2011, if the CHF had strengthened by 5% against  

the USD, the net profit would have been TCHF 14 lower 

(previous year TCHF 72 higher). The same sensitivity 

analysis (+/– 5%) for EUR results in a change of net 

profit of TCHF +/– 85 (previous year TCHF +/– 121). 

Net profit is less sensitive to movement in CHF/EUR 

exchange rates in 2011 than in 2010 mainly because  

of the decreased accounts receivables from deliveries 

and sales in EUR.
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At December 31, 2011, if the CHF had weakened  

by 5% against the USD with all other variables held 

con stant, equity at the year would have been 

TCHF 1834 lower (previous year TCHF 1951), mainly  

as a result of the conversion of the financial 

 statements of foreign subsidiaries. If the CHF had 

strengthened by 5% against the USD, the equity 

would have been TCHF 1834 higher (previous year 

TCHF 1951). The same sensitivity analysis (+/– 5%) 

for EUR results in a change of equity of  

TCHF +/– 588 (previous year TCHF +/– 699). 

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective when managing the capital is  

to assure the Group’s ability to maintain going 

concern of the Group, to support the Group’s strategy 

(especially potential acquisition), to provide attractive 

returns to shareholders and to aim for an optimal 

capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In 

order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 

Group may propose to adjust the dividend policy, to 

return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. In 

line with industry measures, the Group monitors the 

capital basis with the two ratios interest bearing debt 

divided by EBITDA and total equity divided by total 

liabilities and equity. These ratios were at December 31 

as follows:

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

Interest bearing debt 30 177 34 086

EBITDA 17 184 23 163

Debt ratio 1.8 1.5

Equity ratio in % 63.1% 61.7%

Targets for these ratios are for debt ratio below 

three times and for equity ratio above 40%. Group 

management would allow these ratios to be higher 

respectively lower for a short period of time in case 

strong evidence is given that the targets can again  

be achieved in a reasonable time frame.

MAIN SOURCES OF UNCERTAINTIES

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concer-

n ing the future. By definition, the resulting account- 

ing estimates rarely correspond to the related actual 

results. The estimates and assumptions bearing  

a significant risk of entailing a material adjustment to 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 

the next financial year are discussed in the following 

sections.

GOODWILL

The Group’s goodwill is tested annually for impairment 

using discounted cash flow projections. These calcula-

tions require the use of estimates regarding projected 

sales, product prices and costs, interest rate as well 

as tax rate.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

The Group assets are reviewed annually for impair-

ment. To assess if any impairment exists, estimates 

are made of the future cash flows expected to  

result from the use of the assets and its eventual 

disposal. Factors such as changes in the planned  

use of buildings, machinery, or equipment, the closure  

of facilities or technical obsolescence can lead to 

shortened useful life or impairment.
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NOTES TO GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The property, plant and equipment and the intangible 

assets by geographical areas are as follows:

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS IN CHF 1000

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

    

 Switzerland 11 092 11 725

 Germany 779 984

 Other Europe 254 295

 China 19 19

 India 54 52

 USA 15 207 15 846

 Brazil 3 135 2 759

Property, plant and equipment 30 540 31 680

    
    

INTANGIBLE ASSETS GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS IN CHF 1000

31.12.2011 31.12.2010

    

 Switzerland 8 301 7 697

 Germany 18 358 18 835

 Other Europe 105 116

 China 7 7

 India 6 4

 USA 12 956 13 017

 Brazil 9 194 10 634

Intangible assets 48 927 50 310

2	 Raw material and consumables used

Raw material and consumables used amounted to 

29.7% (previous year 29.4%) of net sales. 

3	 Personnel expenses

The average workforce amounted to 892 employees 

(previous year 786). The increase is mainly due to 

Vigodent being consolidated for twelve month in 2011 

versus weighted average for two month in 2010.

Detailed information on personnel expenses:

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

Wages and salaries 41 488 44 321

Expenses for defined benefit plans 956 707

Expenses for defined contribution plans 1 710 1 833

Other personnel expenses 9 497 8 460

Total 53 651 55 321

Personnel expenses include TCHF 120 (previous year 

TCHF 121) for share-based transactions with man-

agement.

For information on expenses for post-employment 

benefits according to IAS 19, please refer to note 4.

1	 Entity-wide information

The net sales by geographical areas (determined by 

site of customer) and by products and services are as 

follows:

NET SALES GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS IN CHF 1000  

2011 2010

    

 Switzerland 3 437 3 423

 Germany, Austria 19 857 23 289

 Great Britain, Ireland 7 166 7 827

 France 6 255 7 396

 Other Europe 20 375 21 856

 Russia and other CIS 4 825 4 489

 Middle East and Africa 5 890 6 852

 North America 45 462 54 235

 Brazil 11 087 3 048

 Other South America 7 794 7 918

 China 2 350 2 248

 India 1 732 1 871

 Other Far East, Oceania 9 903 9 126

Net sales 146 133 153 578

Sales figures by country restated due to an error in 

2010. Originally reported: Switzerland 3328, Germany, 

Austria 23,326, Great Britain, Ireland 7655, France  

7257, Other Europe 21,537, Russia and other CIS  

4496, Middle East and Africa 6468, North America  

54,363, Brazil 3025, Other South America 7829,  

China 2933, India 2345, Other Far East, Oceania 9016, 

Total net sales unchanged.

NET SALES PRODUCTS AND SERVICES IN CHF 1000  

2011 2010

    

 Restoration 33 968 33 517

 Impression 30 070 29 370

 Endodontics 23 561 25 846

 Hygiene and Surgical 16 320 17 272

 Units / Accessories 10 226 12 077

 Rotary 10 067 12 127

 Laboratory 7 389 7 441

 Miscellaneous 14 532 15 928

Net sales 146 133 153 578

One customer group qualifies as a major customer – 

over 10% of net sales – with net sales of TCHF 30,437 

(previous year TCHF 30,599 ) corresponding to 20.8% 

of Group net sales (previous year 19.9%).

11.indd   39 07.03.2012   10:13:01
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4 PENSION LIABILITIES

No short-term payables against pension plans exist (previous year TCHF 4). Defined benefit plan exists for 

Coltène/Whaledent AG. Detailed information on the defined benefit plans:

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

    

Pension costs   

 Current service cost 748 644

 Interest expenses 458 397

 Expected return on plan assets – 366 – 342

 Recognized actuarial losses 116 8

 Total 956 707

    

 Actual return on plan assets 420 395

 Expected contribution for 2011/2010 1 372 1 383

    

    

Change in pension liabilities   

 Balance 1.1. 16 652 14 421

 Current service cost 748 644

 Interest expenses 458 397

 Employee contributions 576 569

 Paid pensions from plans with separated assets – 2 832 – 893

 Actuarial losses 1 208 1 514

 Balance 31.12. 16 810 16 652

    

    

Change in plan assets   

 Balance 1.1. 13 308 12 426

 Employee contributions 576 569

 Employer contributions 796 812

 Paid pensions from plans with separated assets – 2 832 – 893

 Expected return on plan assets 366 342

 Actuarial gains and losses 54 52

 Balance 31.12. 12 268 13 308

    

    

Details to plan assets   

 Receivables from insurance company 12 268 13 308

 Total 12 268 13 308

No investments were made in  COLTENE Holding AG.
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IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

    

Assets and liabilities included in balance sheet   

 Liabilities of plans with separated assets 16 810 16 652

 Plan assets 12 268 13 308

 Underfunding 4 542 3 344

 Not recognized actuarial losses – 3 994 – 2 956

 Net amount 548 388

    

    

Changes in net amount   

 Balance 1.1. 388 493

 Expenses for defined benefit plans 956 707

 Employers contributions – 796 – 812

 Balance 31.12. 548 388

    

    

Actuarial assumptions   

 Discount rate 2.25% 2.75%

 Expected return on plan assets 2.50% 2.75%

 Future salary increase 1.50% 1.50%

 Inflation 1.00% 0.75%

 Future pension increase 0.00% 0.00%

 Mortality BVG 2010 BVG 2005

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

       

Other information      

 

Experience adjustments  

on plan assets 54 52 – 378 – 97 – 269

 

Experience adjustments  

on pension liabilities 104 7 38 – 105 2 583

       

       

Over-/underfunding      

 

Liabilities of plans with  

separated assets 16 810 16 652 14 421 13 838 35 200

 Plan assets 12 268 13 308 12 426 12 574 35 355

 Over-/underfunding 4 542 3 344 1 995 1 264 – 155

The pension liabilities are reported in other long-term provisions.
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5 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Other operating expenses include repair and mainte-

nance cost of property, plant and equipment as well  

as R&D costs. In 2011, TCHF 4740 (previous year 

TCHF 4534) were spent on research and development  

and accounted for as such in the income statement. 

Other operating expenses include gains from sales  

of property, plant and equipment of TCHF 14 (previous 

year TCHF 10). Other operating expenses contain 

TCHF 0 (previous year TCHF 284) for acquisition-related 

costs, which previously would have been included  

in the consideration for the business combination. 

 

For business combinations see note 24 of the notes 

to Group financial statements. 

6 DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

Depreciation on property,  

plant and equipment 4 008 4 192

Amortization of intangible assets 926 530

Total 4 934 4 722

7 FINANCIAL RESULT

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

Interest income on cash and  

cash equivalents 92 22

Gain on call option associates 0 1 220

Total financial income 92 1 242

Interest expenses  

for bank overdrafts and loans – 1 197 – 739

Exchange rate differences and  

other financial expenses (net) – 2 145 – 1 938

Total financial expenses – 3 342 – 2 677

Share of loss of associates 0 – 838

Impairment on investments in associates 0 – 2 957

Total financial result (net) – 3 250 – 5 230

For investments in associates see note 17 of the 

notes to Group financial statements.

8 TAX EXPENSES

Tax expenses comprise the following positions:

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

Taxes payable 3 058 3 609

Deferred taxes – 46 388

Total 3 012 3 997

Tax expenses can be analyzed as follows:

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

Net profit before tax expenses 9 000 13 211

Tax expenses at applicable tax rate  

of 18.80% (27.96%) 1 692 3 693

Effects of non-tax deductible expenses 538 302

Effects of tax exempt or reduced income – 260 – 360

Effects of tax loss not capitalized  

in current year 1 165 210

Effects of tax loss used not capitalized  

in prior years – 154 0

Other impacts 31 152

Effective tax 3 012 3 997

Effective tax rate in % 33.5% 30.3%

The applicable tax rate represents a weighted 

average rate based on all Group companies. Compared 

to last year the applicable rate is reduced from 

27.96% to 18.80% mainly due to higher losses at 

Vigodent SA (tax rate 34%) as being consolidated for 

twelve month in 2011 (two months in 2010). The 

expected tax rates applied by the different companies 

are unchanged to prior year. 

Tax expenses of TCHF 3012 represent an effective tax 

rate of 33.5% (prior year 30.3%) of the net profit 

before tax expenses. The difference between applicable 

and effective tax rate is mainly due to Vigodent’s  

tax losses not capitalized and non-tax deductable 

expenses for 2011. First-time capitalized tax losses  

of TCHF 154 is relating to Coltène/Whaledent Dental 

Materials & Equipment Trading Co., Ltd in Beĳing 

followed by an updated entity’s business plan. 
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The Group has the following tax relevant losses to be 

carried forward:

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

   

Tax losses capitalized   

Expiration within 1 year 0 0

Expiration between 1 and 5 years 2 383 1 037

Expiration over 5 years 5 439 5 951

Total 7 822 6 988

   

Tax credits of capitalized tax losses  

Expiration within 1 year 0 0

Expiration between 1 and 5 years 708 346

Expiration over 5 years 1 808 1 892

Total 2 516 2 238

   

Tax losses not capitalized   

Expiration within 1 year 0 0

Expiration between 1 and 5 years 561 0

Expiration over 5 years 3 553 1 479

Total 4 114 1 479

   

Tax credits of not capitalized tax losses  

Expiration within 1 year 0 0

Expiration between 1 and 5 years 140 0

Expiration over 5 years 1 208 397

Total 1 348 397

Tax liabilities comprise expected income tax payments 

based on taxable profit of the year as well as pending 

tax assessments. All tax credits from capitalized tax 

losses are assessed annually. The assessments are 

based on business plans. Underlying estimation and 

assumptions are main sources of uncertainties. 

9  DEFERRED TAXES

Deferred tax assets include the following positions:

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

1.1. 3 106 1 428

Change in scope 0 1 493

Additions 503 442

Reversals – 126 – 52

Currency effects – 228 – 205

31.12. 3 255 3 106

Deferred tax liabilities include the following positions:

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

1.1. 6 290 6 026

Additions 987 1 296

Reversals – 669 – 553

Currency effects 7 – 479

31.12. 6 615 6 290

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are based on the 

valuation differences between Group valuation and 

tax valuation in the following financial position items:

 2011 2010

IN CHF 1000

DEFERRED  

TAX  

ASSETS

DEFERRED  

TAX  

LIABILITIES

DEFERRED  

TAX  

ASSETS

DEFERRED  

TAX  

LIABILITIES

Receivables and accruals 28 382 0 348

Inventories 514 400 495 486

Property, plant and 

equipment 0 5 990 0 5 633

Intangible assets 0 63 26 5

Financial liabilities 94 313 74 312

Provisions 710 74 848 81

Deferred taxes from losses 

carried forward 2 516 0 2 238 0

Offset of deferred assets 

and liabilities – 607 – 607 – 575 – 575

Total 3 255 6 615 3 106 6 290

Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more  

than twelve months amount to TCHF 3255 (previous 

year TCHF 3106). There are no deferred tax assets  

to be recovered within twelve months (previous year 

TCHF 0).

Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered after more 

than twelve months amount to TCHF 6101 (previous 

year TCHF 5795). Deferred tax liabilities to be 

 recovered within twelve months amount to TCHF 514 

(previous year TCHF 495).
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10 NET PROFIT

The net profit from continuing operations amounts  

to TCHF 5988 (previous year TCHF 9214). The earnings 

per share (EPS) are calculated as follows:

 2011 2010

Weighted number of shares issued at 31.12. 4 147 795 4 149 000

Earnings per share  

(based on profit for the period) 1.44 2.24

Diluted earnings per share  

(based on profit for the period) 1.44 2.24

Earnings per share  

from continuing operations 1.44 2.22

Diluted earnings per share  

from continuing operations 1.44 2.22

Earnings per share  

from discontinued operations 0.00 0.02

Diluted earnings per share  

from discontinued operations 0.00 0.02

11 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE FROM DELIVERIES 

AND SALES

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

Accounts receivable from deliveries  

and sales (gross) 31 683 34 265

Allowance – 1 039 – 1 177

Total 30 644 33 088

   

Accounts receivable from deliveries and sales by currency

CHF 3 953 4 711

EUR 9 036 10 286

USD 11 562 12 803

Other currencies 6 093 5 288

Total 30 644 33 088

   

Accounts receivable from deliveries and sales (gross) by maturity

Not due 26 393 26 243

Past due 1 to 30 days 2 389 3 924

Past due 31 to 60 days 381 604

Past due 61 to 90 days 779 537

Past due 91 to 120 days 41 742

Past due over 120 days 1 700 2 215

Total 31 683 34 265

   

Accounts receivable from deliveries and sales by maturity

Not due 26 298 26 100

Past due 1 to 30 days 2 381 3 896

Past due 31 to 60 days 356 564

Past due 61 to 90 days 734 481

Past due 91 to 120 days 0 603

Past due over 120 days 875 1 444

Total 30 644 33 088

   

Change in allowance   

1.1. 1 177 943

Change in scope 0 324

Additions 426 152

Used – 413 – 180

Reversals – 112 0

Currency effects – 39 – 62

31.12. 1 039 1 177

No collaterals exist in both reporting periods. The 

change in the allowance due to addition or reversal  

is included in other operating expenses.

As per December 31, 2011, accounts receivable  

from deliveries and sales of TCHF 164 are pledged as 

securities for bank loans (previous year TCHF 2231).
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12 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND ACCRUALS

These items include:

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

Other receivables1 1 874 2 862

Prepaid expenses 1 382 927

Total 3 256 3 789

1 see note 27 related parties
   

13 INVENTORIES

Inventories are as follows:

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

Raw materials 11 941 13 976

Trade merchandise 1 959 791

Work in progress 7 347 6 504

Finished goods 8 691 11 198

Total 29 938 32 469

   

Change in allowance   

1.1. 4 691 4 805

Change in scope 0 287

Additions 1 074 1 155

Used – 1 016 – 1 081

Reversals – 156 – 219

Currency effects – 42 – 256

31.12. 4 551 4 691

No inventories are pledged or measured at selling 

price less variable selling expenses (net realizable 

value).
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

IN CHF 1000

MACHINERY AND  

EQUIPMENT LAND

BUILDINGS  

(INCL. INST.)

ASSETS UNDER 

CONSTRUCTION TOTAL

        

Gross values      

 Value 31.12.2009 42 219 1 397 38 245 537 82 398

  Change in scope 1 150 297 1 405 0 2 852

  Additions 1 112 10 508 492 2 122

  Disposals – 1 009 0 – 1 639 0 – 2 648

  Currency effects – 3 851 – 110 – 1 537 – 2 – 5 500

  Reclassification 690 0 213 – 916 – 13

 Value 31.12.2010 40 311 1 594 37 195 111 79 211

  Additions 1 256 0 1 327 861 3 444

  Disposals – 229 0 – 229 0 – 458

  Currency effects – 455 – 38 – 325 23 – 795

  Reclassification – 853 0 1 348 – 495 0

 Value 31.12.2011 40 030 1 556 39 316 500 81 402

        

Accumulated depreciation      

 Value 31.12.2009 28 260 376 20 784 0 49 420

  Depreciation 2 489 61 1 642 0 4 192

  Disposals – 966 0 – 1 584 0 – 2 550

  Currency effects – 2 764 – 41 – 726 0 – 3 531

 Value 31.12.2010 27 019 396 20 116 0 47 531

  Depreciation 2 243 52 1 713 0 4 008

  Disposals – 229 0 – 171 0 – 400

  Currency effects – 234 1 – 44 0 – 277

  Reclassification – 1 104 0 1 104 0 0

 Value 31.12.2011 27 695 449 22 718 0 50 862

        

Net values      

 Value 31.12.2009 13 959 1 021 17 461 537 32 978

 Value 31.12.2010 13 292 1 198 17 079 111 31 680

 Value 31.12.2011 12 335 1 107 16 598 500 30 540

Leased property, plant and equipment amount to TCHF 12 (previous year TCHF 72).
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Contractual commitments:

As per December 31, 2011, contractual commitments 

to acquire machinery and equipment of TCHF 220 

were entered upon (previous year TCHF 609).

Pledged assets:

No property, plant and equipment are pledged for as 

per December 31, 2011, or as per December 31, 2010.

Fire insurance values:

Fire insurance values of property, plant and equipment 

amount to TCHF 92,355 (previous year TCHF 88,524).

15 FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Financial assets consist of TCHF 1 securities (pre-

vious year TCHF 1) and of TCHF 25 loans (previous year 

TCHF 4).

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating 

units (CGUs), which is the Group in total.  Vigodent SA 

was exceptionally considered as a cash-generating 

unit for 2011 and 2010. After full integration, Vigodent 

will disappear as cash-generating unit.

These impairment tests for goodwill are based on 

the discounted cash flow method and on approved 

budgets and business plans for the next three  

years. Cash flow after this period is extrapolated by 

the rates given below. The value in use is the basis  

to calculate the recoverable amount.

Following assumptions were made:

 2011 2010

CGU Group

Long-term growth rate 2.5% 2.5%

Gross profit margin 69 – 71% 70 – 72%

Discount rate 8.5% 8.5%

   

CGU Vigodent

Long-term growth rate 2.5% 2.5%

Gross profit margin 65 – 67% 61 – 63%

Discount rate 12.5% 12.5%

The long-term growth rates used are consistent  

with the forecasts included in industry reports. Gross 

profit is defined as net sales less raw material and 

consumables used and less changes in inventories of 

finished goods and work in progress. The gross  

profit margin is calculated in percentage of net sales. 

Management determined the gross profit margin 

based on past performance and its expectations. 

The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect 

specific risks relating to the dental industry.

Based on these calculations, there was no need for any 

impairment adjustments. Even in case of a reasonably 

possible change in the key assumptions, there will be 

no need for any impairment adjustments.
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IN CHF 1000 GOODWILL

OTHER INTAN- 

GIBLE ASSETS TOTAL

      

Gross values    

 Value 31.12.2009 40 719 6 047 46 766

  Change in scope 7 340 3 570 10 910

  Additions 0 1 531 1 531

  Disposals 0 – 164 – 164

  Currency effects – 5 021 – 398 – 5 419

  Reclassification 0 13 13

 Value 31.12.2010 43 038 10 599 53 637

  Additions 0 1 197 1 197

  Disposals 0 0 0

  Currency effects – 1 300 – 389 – 1 689

  Reclassification 0 0 0

 Value 31.12.2011 41 738 11 407 53 145

      

Accumulated amortization    

 Value 31.12.2009 0 3 151 3 151

  Amortization 0 530 530

  Disposals  0 – 164 – 164

  Currency effects 0 – 190 – 190

 Value 31.12.2010 0 3 327 3 327

  Amortization 0 926 926

  Disposals 0 0 0

  Currency effects 0 – 35 – 35

 Value 31.12.2011 0 4 218 4 218

      

Net values    

 Value 31.12.2009 40 719 2 896 43 615

 Value 31.12.2010 43 038 7 272 50 310

 Value 31.12.2011 41 738 7 189 48 927

As per December 31, 2011, contractual commitments to acquire intangible assets of TCHF 0 exist 

(previous year TCHF 238).



Financials Notes to COLTENE Group Financial Statements | 49

17 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

As per December 31, 2011 and 2010, no investments in 

associates exist.

On July 1, 2009,  COLTENE Holding AG acquired 40%  

of Vigodent SA Indústria e Comércio, Bonsucesso/ 

Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Vigodent SA manufactures 

restor ative and prosthetic dental consumables and 

distributes a wide range of dental consumables in  

the Latin American markets. In 2009, payments made 

for this acquisition amount to TCHF 7948. 

On October 29, 2010, the Group acquired the remain-

ing 60% of Vigodent SA for TCHF 5913. 

The Group’s share of loss of associates for 2010 was 

TCHF 838. 

As the result of Vigodent SA was below our expecta-

tions – the transition to COLTENE business standards 

takes longer than originally foreseen – the business 

plan for Vigodent was updated. Based on this updated 

business plan an impairment of TCHF 1972 on the 

investments in associates was made. At October 29, 

2010, the investment was measured at fair value – 

based on the purchase price of the acquired 60% of 

Vigodent – and as a consequence additional  

TCHF 985 were impaired. 

According to the Share Purchase Agreement, 

COLTENE Holding AG had a call option to purchase  

the remaining 60% of Vigodent SA. The positive  

call option value of TCHF 1220 was recognized as 

financial income at acquisition date. 

Summary financial information to the investments in 

associates, not adjusted for the percentage ownership 

held by the Group, is shown in the table below.

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

Ownership – 100%

Current assets – n / a

Non-current assets – n / a

Total assets – n / a

Current liabilities – n / a

Non-current liabilities – n / a

Total liabilities – n / a

Net sales (from 1.1.2010 to 29.10.2010) – 9 346

Expenses (from 1.1.2010 to 29.10.2010) – – 11 442

Loss for the period  

(from 1.1.2010 to 29.10.2010) – – 2 096

18 BANK LOANS

The following tables show details of current bank 

loans as well as of non-current bank loans. Book values 

are equal to fair values.

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

   

Current bank loans   

Unsecured bank loans 29 589 31 841

Secured bank loans 588 2 231

Total 30 177 34 072

IN CHF 1000 CURRENCY

INTEREST 

RATE MATURITY 2011

     

Current bank loans     

Unsecured bank loan BRL 27.42% 14.01.12 7

Unsecured bank loan CHF 0.91% 30.01.12 5 175

Unsecured bank loan CHF 0.91% 30.01.13 5 000

Unsecured bank loan CHF 0.65% 30.01.14 2 500

Unsecured bank loan CHF 1.04% 30.01.15 1 300

Unsecured bank loan USD 1.19% 31.01.12 5 985

Unsecured bank loan USD 1.10% 31.01.13 5 003

Unsecured bank loan BRL 24.00% 05.02.12 151

Unsecured bank loan BRL 28.03% 20.03.12 30

Unsecured bank loan CHF 1.15% 30.03.12 2 000

Unsecured bank loan BRL 5.10% 09.04.12 252

Unsecured bank loan BRL 4.89% 05.06.12 755

Unsecured bank loan BRL 4.79% 24.09.12 604

Unsecured bank loan BRL 4.99% 18.10.12 827

Secured bank loan BRL 15.35% 28.12.12 164

Secured bank loan INR 11.50% 31.12.12 424

Total    30 177
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IN CHF 1000 CURRENCY

INTEREST 

RATE MATURITY 2010

     

Current bank loans     

Unsecured bank loan CHF 0.93% 31.01.11 6 000

Unsecured bank loan USD 1.04% 31.01.11 4 891

Unsecured bank loan CHF 0.93% 28.02.11 5 100

Unsecured bank loan CHF 0.95% 28.02.11 2 000

Unsecured bank loan USD 1.10% 28.02.11 3 950

Unsecured bank loan CHF 1.05% 14.03.11 2 500

Unsecured bank loan CHF 0.78% 31.03.11 3 500

Partly secured bank loan BRL 21.60% 29.04.11 94

Unsecured bank loan BRL 12.96% 09.06.11 1 770

Partly secured bank loan BRL 24.00% 20.06.11 176

Unsecured bank loan BRL 24.00% 30.06.11 172

Unsecured bank loan BRL 12.96% 04.08.11 282

Unsecured bank loan BRL 12.96% 30.09.11 675

Unsecured bank loan BRL 18.00% 28.10.11 366

Unsecured bank loan INR 11.50% 01.12.11 358

Unsecured bank loan BRL 27.36% 14.01.12 90

Secured bank loan BRL 22.80% n / a 1 139

Secured bank loan BRL 18.84% n / a 987

Secured bank loan BRL 17.40% n / a 2

Secured bank loan BRL 22.80% n / a 20

Total    34 072

Total uncommitted credit lines amount to TCHF 93,268 

(previous year TCHF 95,511) of which 32% are used 

(previous year 36%). Covenants exist and the conditions 

of the convenants are met for both periods.

The Group intends to repay the current bank loans 

of TCHF 30,177 and the interest of TCHF 156 within  

less than twelve months and to finance cash needs by 

renewing existing bank loans and by closing additional 

bank loans out of existing credit lines. 

19 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE TO SUPPLIERS

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

   

Accounts payable to suppliers by currency  

CHF 1 703 2 789

EUR 1 160 1 475

USD 1 729 3 503

Other currencies 1 009 845

Total 5 601 8 612

   

All accounts payable to suppliers fall due and will be 

paid within 120 days.

20 OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUALS

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

Other accounts payable 4 187 3 813

Short-term financial leasing 12 28

Accruals 6 482 5 537

Total 10 681 9 378

   

Derivative financial instruments   

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

Currency related instruments   

Contract amount  

(Forward exchange rate contracts) 4 832 0

Fair value (included in accruals) – 21 0

   

Forward exchange rate contracts by currencies

EUR 4 832 0

USD 0 0

Other 0 0

The tables show the contract or underlying principal 

amounts and fair values of derivative financial instru-

ments analyzed by type of contract at December 31, 

2011 and 2010. Contract or underlying principal amounts 

indicate the volume of business outstanding at the 

consolidated balance sheet date and do not represent 

amounts at risk. The fair values are determined by 

reference to market prices or standard pricing models 

that used observable market inputs at December 31, 

2011 and 2010.

21 PROVISIONS

Reserves for guarantees were made according to 

estimates based on experience for guarantee claims 

that cannot be insured or are most probably based  

on the assessment of special cases. The provisions for 

pension plans and other social security include future 

pension claims, termination benefits and age-related 

part-time work agreements, promised pension or 

capital payments to the extent to which these pay-

ables are not included or reinsured by a legally 

separate fund.
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The other provisions mainly cover the risk of litigation. 

A capital outflow is expected in the next two to five 

years. Provisions developed as follows:

IN CHF 1000

LEGAL & 

PERSONNEL 

RELATED

PENSION 

PLANS & 

SOCIAL 

SECURITY

GUARAN-

TEE & 

OTHERS TOTAL

     

31.12.2009 149 643 225 1 017

Change in scope 62 0 0 62

Reversals 0 – 104 – 28 – 132

Additions 7 11 19 37

Currency effects – 26 – 26 – 11 – 63

31.12.2010 192 524 205 921

Additions 313 208 126 647

Reversals – 111 0 0 – 111

Used 0 – 6 0 – 6

Currency effects 14 – 2 – 3 9

31.12.2011 408 724 328 1 460

     

Short-term provisions 

31.12.2010 192 0 0 192

Short-term provisions 

31.12.2011 100 50 228 378

Long-term provisions 

31.12.2010 0 524 205 729

Long-term provisions 

31.12.2011 308 674 100 1 082

22 FINANCIAL LEASING AND OPERATING LEASING

Financial leasing commitments and operating  

leasing and rental commitments not recognized in  

the balance sheet are as follows:

 OPERATING LEASING FINANCIAL LEASING

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010 2011 2010

     

No later than 1 year 1 178 988 12 32

Later than 1 year  

and no later 5 years 2 820 2 468 0 19

Later than 5 years 27 514 0 0

Interest included  

in above payments 0 0 0 – 9

Total 4 025 3 970 12 42

     

Total over 1 year 2 847 2 982 0 19

Several operating and financial leasing contracts  

for property, plant and equipment exist.

The short-term financial leasing liabilities of TCHF 12 

(previous year TCHF 28) are reported in other ac-

counts payable and accruals. The long-term financial 

leasing liabilities of TCHF 0 (previous year TCHF 14) 

are reported in other long-term liabilites.

23 EQUITY

The share capital represents the capital of  COLTENE 

Holding AG adjusted by treasury stock. Treasury  

stock on December 31, 2011, included 79,491 shares 

(previous year 70,000).

The outstanding capital consists of 4,219,000 (previ-

ous year 4,219,000) regis tered shares of CHF 0.10 

(previous year CHF 0.10) par value per share. All shares 

are issued; there is no additional conditional or 

approved capital.

The distribution of CHF 1.10 per share out of the 

capital contribution reserves will be proposed to the 

Annual General Meeting on April 20, 2012.

Based on the AGM decision on April 28, 2011, the 

com pany distributed from the capital contribution 

reserve CHF 1.75 (previous year a dividend of 

CHF 3.10 less 35% withholding) per share, to its 

shareholders on May 5, 2011. The total amount  

paid was TCHF 7261 (previous year TCHF 12,862).



52 | Financials Notes to COLTENE Group Financial Statements

25 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On April 30, 2008,  COLTENE Holding AG sold its entire 

Medical segment by transferring the shares of  

the two subsidiaries Medisize Schweiz AG and Medisize 

Medical Business Beheer B.V. together with all its  

subsidiaries to Medifiq Healthcare Corporation. The 

results of this transaction are presented as dis-

continued operations in the statement of compre-

hensive income and in cash flow statement.

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

    

Gain on sale of discontinued operations 0 77

Income tax on gain on sale  

of discontinued operations 0 – 6

Profit from discontinued operations 0 71

    

Cash flow from discontinued operations   

 Net cash flow from investing activities 0 – 59

Net cash flow from discontinued operations 0 – 59

In 2011 no impacts of discontinued operations were 

recognised. In 2010 accrued liabilities of TCHF 59 

were paid and unused accrued liabilites of TCHF 77 

were recognized as gain on sale of discountinued 

operations. 

26 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On April 30, 2008,  COLTENE Holding AG sold its entire 

Medical segment by transferring the shares of the 

two subsidiaries Medisize Schweiz AG and Medisize 

Medical Business Beheer B.V. together with its 

subsidiaries to Medifiq Healthcare Corporation. 

Consequently, the Group signed a sale and purchase 

agreement in which the Group represents and 

 warrants to the buyer a comprehensive catalogue  

of items to an extent generally in line with industry 

standard for such kind of transactions. 

The Group has contingent liabilities in respect of legal 

claims arising in the ordinary course of business. It  

is not anticipated that any material liabilities will arise 

from the contingent liabilities other than provided  

for. With regard to operating activities, the Group 

has no contingent liabilities resulting from bills of 

exchange, letter of credits or guarantees.

24 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

In 2011 no acquisitions were made.

On October 29, 2010, COLTENE acquired the remain-

ing 60% of Vigodent SA, Bonsucesso/Rio de Janeiro, 

Brazil, to increase its share in Vigodent to 100%. 

Vigodent SA manufactures restorative and prosthetic 

dental consumables and distributes a wide range  

of dental consumables in the Latin American markets. 

The details to the purchase price are shown in the 

table below.

IN CHF 1000 FAIR VALUE

Accounts receivable from deliveries and sales 2 647

Other receivables and prepaid expenses 624

Inventories 3 055

Property, plant and equipment 2 852

Financial assets 2

Intangible assets 3 570

Deferred tax assets 1 493

Current bank loans – 5 537

Accounts payable to suppliers – 2 826

Other accounts payable and accruals – 2 007

Other short-term provisions – 62

Other long-term liabilities – 16

Net assets acquired 3 795

Goodwill 7 340

Total purchchase consideration for 100% 11 135

Thereof cash paid to the seller for 60% – 5 973

Thereof fair value of investments  

in associates 40% – 3 942

Thereof fair value of call option – 1 220

In 2010 acquisition-related costs of TCHF 284 have 

been recognized in the consolidated income state-

ment as operating expenses, which previously would 

have been included in the consideration for the 

business combination.

The goodwill is justified by the acquired business and 

by the expected synergies. Between the date of  

the acquisition and December 31, 2010, Vigodent SA 

contributed TCHF 1961 to the net sales and 

TCHF –874 to the net profit.

In this year’s reporting period Vigodent SA is fully 

consolidated. Vigodent SA was in a turnaround situa-

tion and contributed to the group’s income state-

ment with net sales of TCHF 10,549 and operating 

expenses of TCHF 8505 and a net loss for the  

period of TCHF 3359.
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27 TRANSACTION WITH RELATED PARTIES

IN CHF 1000 2011 2010

Key management compensation:   

Salaries and other short-term employee 

benefits 1 220 1 703

Share-based payments 121 88

Post-employment benefits 95 125

Total 1 436 1 916

   

Other receivables from Board of Directors 1 58 0

   

Transactions with associates (Vigodent SA):   

Net sales (from 1.1.2010 to 29.10.2010) n / a 526

Accounts receivable from  

deliveries and sales n / a n / a

1 included in other receivables (see note 12)   

For further details concerning the remuneration to 

the Board of Directors and Executive Management 

see notes to  COLTENE Holding AG on page 59.

28 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Board of Directors authorized the Group financial 

statements on February 21, 2012, for issue. As  

per this date, the Board of Directors and Executive 

Management were unaware of any important events 

subsequent to the closing of books. 
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MAJOR GROUP COMPANIES

COMPANY ACTIVITY

REGISTERED  

CAPITAL

GROUP OWNERSHIP 

2011

GROUP OWNERSHIP 

2010

       

Coltène / Whaledent AG, Altstätten CH Production and sales of dental specialities CHF 1 600 000 100% 100%

 

Coltène / Whaledent Vertriebsservice und 

Marketing GmbH, Altstätten CH

Sales services and marketing  

of dental specialities CHF 20 000 100% 100%

 

Coltène / Whaledent GmbH + Co. KG, 

Langenau DE Production and sales of dental specialities EUR 1 850 000 100% 100%

  Dentalia Kft., Bicske HUN Production and sales of dental specialities HUF 3 000 000 100% 100%

  Endodent Inc., Duarte CA / USA Production and sales of dental specialities USD 30 000 100% 100%

 Coltène / Whaledent Ltd., Burgess Hill GB Sales of dental specialities GBP 200 000 100% 100%

 Coltène / Whaledent S.à.r.l., Le Mans FR Sales of dental specailities EUR 503 000 100% 100%

 

Coltène / Whaledent Dental Materials & 

Equipment Trading Co., Ltd, Beĳing CN Sales of dental specailities CNY 5 000 000 100% 100%

 Coltène / Whaledent Private Limited, Mumbai IN Sales of dental specailities INR 19 800 000 100% 100%

Coltène / Whaledent Inc. Cuyahoga Falls OH / USA Production and sales of dental specialities USD 5 000 000 100% 100%

Vigodent SA Indústria e Comércio,  

Rio de Janeiro BR Production and sales of dental specialities BRL 7 383 711 100% 100%
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Report of the statutory auditor to the General Meeting of COLTENE Holding AG, Altstätten

REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITOR ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements of COLTENE Holding AG, which comprise  

the balance sheet, income statement, statement of comprehensive income, cash flow statement, statement of changes 

in equity and notes (pages 26 to 54), for the year ended December 31, 2011.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial state-

ments in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of Swiss law.  

This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the prepara-

tion and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether  

due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting 

policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards as well as the International Standards on Auditing. 

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated 

financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the  

risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 

risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control 

system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 give a true and fair view  

of the financial position, the results of operations and the cash flows in accordance with the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and independ-

ence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.  

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal 

control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements according  

to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Lorenz Lipp  Ramon Dreier

Audit expert  Audit expert

Auditor in charge

St. Gallen, February 21, 2012
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BALANCE SHEET  COLTENE HOLDING AG

IN CHF 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

     

Assets   

  Cash and cash equivalents 145 711 6 317

  Other receivables from third parties 25 155 7 290

  Other receivables from subsidiaries 419 947 1 708 830

  Other receivables from Board of Directors 57 911 0

  Prepaid expenses and accrued income 71 623 34 270

 Current assets 720 347 1 756 707

  Loans to subsidiaries 50 231 898 53 429 280

  Investments in subsidiaries 22 031 114 22 031 114

  Own shares 2 531 788 3 010 000

 Non-current assets 74 794 800 78 470 394

 Total assets 75 515 147 80 227 101

     

     

Liabilities   

  Bank loans 26 962 425 27 941 170

  Other liabilities to third parties 32 447 0

  Other liabilities to subsidiaries 842 050 0

  Accruals and provisions 93 000 381 171

 Current liabilities 27 929 922 28 322 341

  Share capital 421 900 421 900

  Statutory reserves 84 380 18 014 757

  Capital contribution reserve 13 416 733 0

  Reserves for treasury stock 3 239 947 3 010 000

  Net income brought forward 30 422 265 30 458 103

 Total equity 47 585 225 51 904 760

 Total liabilities and equity 75 515 147 80 227 101
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INCOME STATEMENT  COLTENE HOLDING AG

IN CHF 2011 2010

    

 Income from investments 3 241 770 15 000 000

 Financial income 1 885 017 1 802 495

Total income 5 126 787 16 802 495

 Financial expenses – 1 145 799 – 302 098

 Administrative expenses – 1 028 899 – 1 182 765

 Tax expenses – 10 874 – 85 062

Total expenses – 2 185 572 – 1 569 925

Profit of the year 2 941 215 15 232 570

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  COLTENE HOLDING AG

IN CHF

SHARE 

CAPITAL

STATUTORY 

RESERVES

CAPITAL 

CONTRIBUTION 

RESERVES

RESERVES 

FOR TREASURY 

STOCK

NET INCOME 

BROUGHT FORWARD TOTAL

       

31.12.2009 421 900 18 014 757 0 3 010 000 28 087 232 49 533 889

Dividend distribution     – 12 861 699 – 12 861 699

Profit of the year     15 232 570 15 232 570

31.12.2010 421 900 18 014 757 0 3 010 000 30 458 103 51 904 760

Transfer  – 17 930 377 17 930 377   0

Transfer   2 747 106  – 2 747 106 0

Distribution to shareholders   – 7 260 750   – 7 260 750

Transfer    229 947 – 229 947 0

Profit of the year     2 941 215 2 941 215

31.12.2011 421 900 84 380 13 416 733 3 239 947 30 422 265 47 585 225
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NOTES TO  COLTENE HOLDING AG

IN CHF 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

    

1 Contingent liabilities   

 

Warrants Medifiq Healthcare Corporation 

(see notes to the Group financial statements, note 26) p.m. p.m.

 

Joint and several liability for VAT liabilities of COLTENE Holding AG, Altstätten, 

Coltène / Whaledent AG, Altstätten, Coltène / Whaledent Vertriebsservice und Marketing 

GmbH, Altstätten p.m. p.m.

2 Significant investments   

 See list on page 54   

3 Treasury stock   

 Total at 31.12.   

 79,491 (70,000) shares par value CHF 0.10 (CHF 0.10) 2 531 788 3 010 000

 Purchases: 17,624 (2121) shares at an average price of 32.89 58.64

 Sales: 8133 shares at an average price of 34.45  

 Share-based transactions with management: 2255 (2121) shares at an average price of 53.10 58.64

4 Significant shareholders   

 The company is aware of the following registered shareholders who own over 3% of the shares

 Huwa Finanz- und Beteiligungs AG, Heerbrugg 20.27% 18.32%

 FMR Corp., Boston / USA 9.99% 9.99%

 Tweedy, Browne Company LLC, New York / USA 5.18% 5.18%

 Lincoln Vale European Partners Master Fund L.P., Lincoln / USA < 3% 4.96%

 Schroder Investments Management Limited, London / UK 4.17% 4.17%

 Orange European Smallcap Fund N.V., Amsterdam / NL < 3% 3.80%

 Robert Heberlein, Zumikon 3.58% 3.46%

 Credit Suisse Asset Management Funds AG, Zurich 3.04% 3.04%

 UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG, Zürich 3.01% < 3%

5 Number of shares held by Board of Directors   

 Nick Huber, Chairman 2 050 800

 Robert Heberlein, Member 151 153 145 903

 Erwin Locher, Member 9 056 5 177

 Matthew Robin, Member 1 000 750

 Jerry Sullivan, Member 427 177

 Total 163 686 152 807

6 Number of shares held by Executive Management   

 Andreas Meldau, Chief Executive Officer until June 30, 2011 n / a 1 243

 Hans Grüter, Chief Financial Officer 3 061 2 132

 Total 3 061 3 375

7 Other Receivables from Board of Directors   

 Nick Huber, Chairman 11 747 0

 Robert Heberlein, Member 11 658 0

 Erwin Locher, Member 11 747 0

 Matthew Robin, Member 11 747 0

 Jerry Sullivan, Member 11 012 0

 Total 57 911 0
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8   Remuneration to Board of Directors in CHF

      BASE REMUNERATION      VARIABLE REMUNERATION OTHER REMUNERATION TOTAL

2011 IN CASH IN SHARES

SOCIAL  

SECURITY

OTHER  

BENEFITS

SOCIAL  

SECURITY

OTHER  

BENEFITS  

Nick Huber, Chairman 80 000 8 988 0 0 5 932 0 94 920

Robert Heberlein, Member 60 000 8 988 0 0 2 834 0 71 822

Erwin Locher, Member 1 60 000 8 988 0 0 4 598 0 73 586

Matthew Robin, Member 60 000 8 988 0 0 4 598 0 73 586

Jerry Sullivan, Member 60 000 8 988 0 0 0 0 68 988

Total 320 000 44 940 0 0 17 962 0 382 902

1 The total remuneration for Erwin Locher amounts CHF235,856 inluding the remuneration for his function as ad interim CEO (see also note 9)

        

      BASE REMUNERATION      VARIABLE REMUNERATION OTHER REMUNERATION TOTAL

2010 IN CASH IN SHARES

SOCIAL  

SECURITY

OTHER  

BENEFITS

SOCIAL  

SECURITY

OTHER  

BENEFITS  

Nick Huber, Chairman 100 000 12 489 0 0 7 244 0 119 733

Robert Heberlein, Member 80 000 12 489 0 0 4 026 0 96 515

Erwin Locher, Member 80 000 8 842 0 0 5 721 0 94 563

Matthew Robin, Member 80 000 12 489 0 0 5 956 0 98 445

Jerry Sullivan, Member 80 000 8 842 0 0 0 0 88 842

Total 420 000 55 151 0 0 22 947 0 498 098

        

        

9   Remuneration to Executive Management in CHF

        

      BASE REMUNERATION      VARIABLE REMUNERATION OTHER REMUNERATION TOTAL

2011 IN CASH IN SHARES IN CASH IN SHARES

SOCIAL  

SECURITY

OTHER  

BENEFITS  

Hans Grüter, Chief Financial Officer 360 000 0 18 316 37 807 106 353 23 843 546 319

Other members of the Executive Management 1 347 575 0 35 621 38 710 60 967 24 265 507 138

Total 707 575 0 53 937 76 517 167 320 48 108 1 053 457

1 Including remuneration of CHF 162,269 for Erwin Locher as ad interim CEO

        

      BASE REMUNERATION      VARIABLE REMUNERATION OTHER REMUNERATION TOTAL

2010 IN CASH IN SHARES IN CASH IN SHARES

SOCIAL  

SECURITY

OTHER  

BENEFITS  

Andreas Meldau, Chief Executive Officer 373 563 0 170 545 17 952 124 086 49 572 735 718

Other members of the Executive Management 360 000 0 157 782 14 841 122 912 26 492 682 027

Total 733 563 0 328 327 32 793 246 998 76 064 1 417 745

        

        

10   Risk management        

The Group identifies, records and assesses the business risks for the entire Group according to the Group’s Risk Management Policy and in line 

with the Group’s Internal Control System Policy. Measures to regulate, monitor and reduce selected risks are defined and the implementation is 

controlled. The Board of Directors is in charge of supervising the risk management process.
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IN CHF 2011 2010

     

Allocation of the profit of the year   

Net income carried forward from previous year 27 710 997 15 225 533

Profit of the year 2 941 215 15 232 570

Transfer to reserves for treasury stocks – 229 947 0

Transfer to reserves from previous capital contributions 0 – 2 747 106

Total amount at the disposal of the AGM 30 422 265 27 710 997

Dividend distribution 0 0

Balance to be carried forward 30 422 265 27 710 997

    

    

Distribution out of reserves from capital contributions   

Available reserves from previous capital contributions 13 416 733 20 677 483

Distribution to shareholders of CHF 1.10 per share (1.75 per share) – 4 640 900 – 7 383 250

Distribution reduction due to treasury shares 0 122 500

Balance to be carried forward 8 775 833 13 416 733

PROPOSAL FOR THE ALLOCATION OF NET INCOME



Financials Report of the statutory auditor | 61

Report of the statutory auditor to the General Meeting of COLTENE Holding AG, Altstätten

REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITOR ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of COLTENE Holding AG, which comprise

the balance sheet, income statement and notes (pages 56 to 60), for the year ended December 31, 2011.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the require-

ments of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes designing, implementing 

and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are free from ma-

terial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and 

applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 

to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 

the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements in 

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriate-

ness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the

overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient  

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 comply with Swiss law and the company’s 

articles of incorporation. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and inde-

pendence (article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal 

control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the instruc-

tions of the Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the company’s 

articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Lorenz Lipp   Ramon Dreier

Audit expert   Audit expert

Auditor in charge

St. Gallen, February 21, 2012
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COMPANY CAPITAL

The registered shares of  COLTENE Holding AG were 

listed on SIX Swiss Exchange as at June 23, 2006. 

After the par value reduction on July 14, 2008, and 

after the share repurchase on December 9, 2008,  

the share capital of  COLTENE Holding AG consists of: 

4,219,000 registered shares at CHF 0.10 par value 

Securities number 2.534.325

STOCK MARKET TRADING

The registered shares of  COLTENE Holding AG  

are listed on SIX Swiss Exchange. Prices are published  

in the Swiss daily and financial press as well as 

in electronic price information systems under the 

following symbols or numbers: 

TELEKURS: CLTN

VALORENNUMMER: 2.534.325

ISIN: CH0025343259

IMPORTANT DATES

Important dates for publications this year  

and the following year are:

MARCH 15, 2012

Presentation of annual results 2011

Financial analysts’ and media conference

Publication of Annual Report 2011

APRIL 20, 2012

General Meeting of the Shareholders, at 

COLTENE Holding AG, Altstätten/SG

AUGUST 17, 2012

Presentation of half-year results 2012

Conference Call/Webcast

Publication of Half-year Report 2012

MARCH 2013

Presentation of annual results 2012

Financial analysts’ and media conference 

Publication of Annual Report 2012

APRIL 2013

General Meeting of the Shareholders

INTERNET/E-MAIL BULLETINS

Further information about  COLTENE can be found at 

www. coltene.com. To obtain a subscription to the 

Group’s news service, please register in the Investors 

& Media section at www.coltene.com/news.

KEY FIGURES PER SHARE

Price at year-end  31.85

Highest price   61.80

 Date    18.01.2011

Lowest price  29.65

 Date    15.12.2011

Earnings per share  1.44

Equity per share  22.81

Distribution per share  1.10

Taxable value   31.85

Investor Relations
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COLTENE HOLDING AG

Feldwiesenstrasse 20

CH-9450 Altstätten

Phone +41 (0)71 757 5472

Telefax +41 (0)71 757 5303

www.coltene.com

E-mail: info@coltene.com

COLTENE MAIN PRODUCTION SITES

COLTENE/WHALEDENT INC.

235 Ascot Parkway

Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio

44223-3701/USA

Phone +1 330 916 8800

Telefax +1 330 916 7077

www.coltene.com

COLTENE/WHALEDENT AG

Feldwiesenstrasse 20

CH-9450 Altstätten

Phone +41 (0)71 757 5300

Telefax +41 (0)71 757 5301

www.coltene.com

COLTENE/WHALEDENT GMBH + CO. KG

Raiffeisenstrasse 30

P.O. Box 1150

D-89122 Langenau

Phone +49 7345 805 0

Telefax +49 7345 805 201

www.coltene.com

Important Addresses
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